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SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER, CHAIR:  ________ January of next year.  As noted in the background paper, the hearing now brings to a total of eight oversight hearings that we have had since I took over as chair of this committee back in 1999.


I want to thank Senator Cox, the committee’s vice-chair, in particular, for joining us today.  Both during his time in the state Assembly when he served on the Assembly Insurance Committee, and since joining this committee, he has regularly attended these oversight hearings that, as many of you know, are really the core of the Legislature’s duty to the public.  


We have many subjects on our agenda today.  Last time we heard about the Conservation Liquidation Office.  Today we’re going to hear about the administrative apparatus of the department.  
I should note that audit reports over the years recommended substantial upgrades to the department’s information technology infrastructure.  I understand that many of these improvements have been implemented and we want to hear about them this morning.


We also are here to find out how the Legislature can assist the department to stay on top of the department’s workload. 


We will have a discussion on the consumer services and market conduct branch of the department.  We’ll spend some time talking about auto repair.  We’ll then examine the current status of consumer complaints after the 2003 wildfires, and the settlement of a disability insurer’s market conduct exam.  We’ll then turn to the topic of enforcement of the Insurance Code, and we’ll focus on enforcement of the fraud statutes.  We’ll end with an evaluation of the financial surveillance branch and determine what tools we need to provide to the analysts to help them do their jobs better.

I want to request of all witnesses, that they keep their comments brief and to the point.  And while the agenda suggests that we will be here until 3:00, it is certainly my hope that we will complete this hearing before then, particularly since I have a sick child at home and would like to get back to the Bay Area.  
So, with that, Senator Cox, do you have some opening comments?


SENATOR DAVE COX:  I do.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  And thank you for scheduling this oversight hearing.  It’s certainly critical for the Legislature to perform its oversight functions so that we might ensure accountability of state government to Californians as well as make informed policy decisions.


Madam Chair, I wish to thank your staff for the development of today’s agenda.  I wish to thank Commissioner Garamendi, as well, for making himself available to the committee today.  And I trust through his cooperation we’ll gain a better understanding as to how the Department of Insurance works and where it can be improved.


And the Commissioner may recall, Madam Chair, that during our hearing last May, I had a number of questions regarding the department and its operations, and I believe those concerns need to be resolved.  
I have some questions about the department’s $28 million surplus, scheduled $28 million surplus, and I understand now that has, in fact, been spent and that you’re contemplating an increase in assessments by some $7 million for next year.

Madam Chair, I also have concerns about the department’s inability to closeout longstanding backlog of consumer complaints; concern about the department’s inability to focus antifraud efforts to gain more convictions; and I have concerns about the department’s inability to license new products in a timely manner.


It’s my hope, Mr. Commissioner, that you and your staff, this morning, can provide an insight as to how the surplus that I mentioned was spent, and why the department might be seeking to increase assessments.


Madam Chair and Mr. Commissioner, I also remain concerned about the department’s threatening letter to agents and brokers requesting what I consider to be an overly broad, unspecified information about their disclosure.


So Madam Chair, I have questions about the department’s legal authority for that threat; I have questions concerning the disposition of the documents generated by the agents and brokers who did in fact comply with the letter.


But I thank you.  This morning I look forward to the hearing.  And I appreciate you calling it, Madam Chair, so we can begin at your pleasure.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Commissioner, please come forward.  We welcome you.  Thank you for joining us.  Do you have opening comments you’d like to make?


JOHN GARAMENDI, INSURANCE COMMISSIONER:  Since this is the continuation of the previous hearing, we decided not to make additional comments.  The earlier comments stand, and we’re here to answer whatever questions you and your staff may have of us.  You’ve presented written questions and we’re prepared to deal with those, so we’re at your pleasure.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Very good.  Let’s then move right to the administrative and licensing service’s function.  Mr. Ward is here, as is, former Acting Commissioner, Clark Kelso.  We welcome you both.  And from what I understand, you have some good news to relate to us.


DENNIS WARD:  We believe so.  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Senator Cox.  
The California Department of Insurance has placed a high priority on using technology to improve the effectiveness, responsiveness, and efficiency of our operations.  Among our most significant improvements to date, are those that we have made in the area of producer licensing.  


Today, a person seeking an insurance agents license can use the CDI’s website to search for pre-licensing education courses and providers, complete and submit their license application and pay the associated fees, and schedule and pay the fees for the license examination and reexamination if needed.  
License applicants have benefited because the timeline for processing an insurance agents license in California has been reduced from six to eight weeks, down to two weeks.  The CDI has benefited because we get fewer complaints about delays in issuing licenses and, more importantly, we’ve freed up five employees to redirect to other workload.


We have also automated the license examination process.  We now deliver the license exam in a computer based format rather than a pencil and paper format.  The computer format enhances the integrity of the examination, provides immediate feedback to the applicant, and reduces the staff time by one-half PY spent processing the examination results.

Beginning in January 2003, we began offering online services for our pre-licensing and continuing education providers.  Education providers now have the ability to submit both their class presentation schedules and their course rosters through the CDI’s website.  This has reduced the timeline for processing the class presentation schedules from four weeks, to one week; reduce the timeline for processing course rosters from four weeks, to one week; and reduce the time for completed CE courses to be reflected on the agents CDI website record from three weeks, to immediately.  The amount of staff time devoted to processing of the course presentation and rosters has been reduced by one PY.


We have also developed technology applications for other parts of the department’s operations.  For example, we’ve instituted an internet based system that allows companies or their designees to file suspected fraudulent claims with the department.  This allows companies to submit online, rather than through the mail; it allows companies to check the status of their SFCs; saves data entry time for the fraud personnel; and provides opportunity for statistical analysis of the submitted SFCs.


We’ve also developed a system with the state of Florida and the state of Texas, what we call a multi-state annuity project that allows a company desiring to file a product for approval in those three states, to do so electronically and have it filed in all three states.  And with the highest standards of those three states being used for the review of that product, and then once you have an approval, you’re approved in three states, rather than one.


We also have established an internet-based annuity training report that lists all life agents who have completed the required annuity training.  This allows companies a quick opportunity to go to our website to pull up all the agents that they have appointed, and determine which ones are authorized to sell annuities and those that are not.


We’ve also modified our examination tracking system pursuant to the Bureau of State Audits report and recommendation.  This improves our tracking of cost and time spent on company exams, provides more efficient management reporting, and reduces manual operations through an automated system and procedures.

We’ve also made significant strides in improving our infrastructure.  We’ve upgraded our network routers to replace end of life units and prepare the network to carry data, voice, and video.  This reduces the risk of network failure, and allows for continued manufacturer maintenance and support.


We’ve also installed intrusion detection and prevention systems to block external attacks on the CDI network and its data repositories.  This, of course, safeguards our network and servers, and helps to provide continued availability of applications and network resources.


We’ve also upgraded our network monitoring systems to capture and report on all network traffic, to improve analysis and management.  


We’ve designed, configured, and installed a CDI email system with no single point of failure that provides 24 by 7 monitoring.  


We’ve designed, configured, and installed an application to filter and block spam email messages.  This improves staff productivity by eliminating the need to open, read, and deleting spam.


We’ve also developed and established a baseline budget pursuant to legislative and Department of Finance approval, to implement a technology refresh plan that ensures that our network and our PCs are maintained on a standard regular basis.


We’ve also got several things in the pike that we’re excited about.  One is, we’re in the process of implementing a rate filing document imaging project.  This will allow all rate filings to become image documents and be better accessed by the public.  It improves document retrieval time by 50 percent; improves time for authorized CDI staff to obtain stored record rate filings from 24 to 48 hours, to one minute; and decreases use of office space for rate filing documents for public viewing.


We’re also in the process of acquiring and automating our inventory system, creating a single database, rather than having multiple databases that we have to access to figure out what we have and where we have it.  


We also have a project under the way to establish what we call an enterprise information portal.  This basically is acquiring business intelligent software that allows us to reach out into the department, into the various data silos that the business units maintain, extract the information that we need, have it presented to us in a format that is how we need it to be presented, and should improve overall oversight of the insurance industry and our ability to analyze the information we have in-house.

We also have plans to implement, we’re in the process of looking at bids now for replacing our telecommunications infrastructure.  We have an end of life phone system, private phone system, that we acquired many years ago.  We’re having difficulty acquiring parts.  We did a feasibility study report, and the recommendation was that we proceed with the voiceover IP alternative.  And, we’re excited about this for many reasons, not the least of which we think is as department relies heavily on its field force.  The voiceover IP will increase the productivity of our field staff and also, it should enhance our ability at our call centers by allowing us to integrate the voice and data in a single way.  


So those are some of the areas that we have focused on, Madam Chair.  I’m happy to answer any question you might have.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So what’s the price tag on all of this?


MR. WARD:  Each one, of course, has a different price.  I can go down through some of those if you would like.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Can you just ballpark it?  I mean, this is all paid for by licensees and insurers, correct?

MR. WARD:  That’s correct.  And the last two big projects, the enterprise information portal and the telecommunications replacement, are, by far, the two most expensive projects both exceeding….I don’t have that figure right in front of me, but I believe it’s somewhere in the neighborhood of $7- to $8 million.

And I would like to mention, Madam Chair, that we did meet with the industry prior to implementing both of those projects and explained that we were seeking PCPs.  The reason we wanted to proceed with those projects.  And the best that I’m aware of, there was industry support for that.


CHAIR SPEIER:  The opportunity for someone to file a complaint online, does that exist now?


MR. WARD:  I believe that they can go online and fill out the request for assistance form, yes.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So they fill out the request for assistance and then it is automatically directed to the proper division to handle?


MR. WARD:  I don’t know if it’s that intelligent, that it knows exactly where…


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, if you fill it out online, what do you do with it?


MR. WARD:  It goes into the Consumer Service Division and into the hotline, into their database, into their workload review.  So depending on the nature of the complaint, it may be assigned to…


CHAIR SPEIER:  Some help is coming your way.


MR. WARD:  Good.  I need some help.


TONY CIGNARLE:  Madam Chair and member, Tony Cignarle, Consumer Services Division. 


CHAIR SPEIER:  I understand you’re sleep deprived these days, is that correct?  Congratulations.


MR. CIGNARLE:  For the most part, yes.  For good reasons.


To answer the question—yes.  In fact, when a consumer does file an interactive request for assistance on our website, it does go directly into our case tracking system and right to the specific bureau, whether it’s a claims issue or a rating underwriting issue, to begin the assignment process and the handling and investigation of the complaint.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, that’s somewhat failsafe, and then there’s a way of tracking that internally now, to determine how old a particular case is, correct?


MR. CIGNARLE:  Correct.  Whether a case came in through the internet, or was input directly by our staff, through coming in through the mail or by phone, it is all tracked and is all aged.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Could you, Mr. Ward, just explain briefly the enterprise portal for everyone’s benefit?  I think it’s of great value, and I think it’s worth spelling out a little bit.


MR. WARD:  Yes, I’d be happy to.  The department, like most government agencies, is a bureaucracy, and we have distinct units throughout the department spread up and down the state, each of which has kind of evolved on its own over time, and certainly not in a coordinated fashion with the rest of the units.  Some are way ahead of others in terms of the level and use of automation.  The end result of that is, that each of those units is performing something that’s critical to oversight of the industry.  But if you’re sitting in a position such as, our chief deputy, or sitting, really, in another bureau in the department, trying to figure out everything that we might have in-house in the company, you basically have to spend your day finding out who to call; finding out what they may have, knowing how to ask the question to make sure that if they have the information they could identify it and pull it out for you, and then, you have to analyze it.  And, that may involve a substantial amount of time or it may not.  You may seek a need, assistance from our IT staff to develop reporting of it. 


The enterprise information portal is, essentially, taking that data, identifying that data, and having the ability to reach out and grab it for you electronically and present it in a way that you’ve outlined it to be presented.  
You know, there’s a software product that will assist anyone in reaching into databases to pull out and extract data.  The weakness, of course, in that process is, is if you don’t have the data stored electronically, you’re not going to be able to retrieve it, of course.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now you can retrieve it, but can you modify it?  Can you tinker with it?


MR. WARD:  You can.  Once you have hold of that data, you can do things with it.  I mean, whatever processes that you can develop through an application, could be used to tweak it in the sense of….you know, I’m not quite sure if I have an example of where you would do that, but certainly once you have data…


CHAIR SPEIER:  Do you see where my concern is going, though?


MR. WARD:  Yes.


CHAIR SPEIER:  My concern being, there’s data.  Someone who may not have the most benign of interests, is going to take that data, tweak it, and create a different result.


MR. WARD:  Understood.  And I should clarify what I was referring to, would be basically where you have a copy of what is already in the file and then you do something else with it.  The actual official record, the official data, would not be, unless through security review, you would not be able to write over it, to alter it, to change it in any way.  It would be read only, essentially, is what the process would be.


RICK BAUM:  Senator, I’m Rick Baum, chief deputy.  The real strategy behind having this system is primarily as a management tool.
And as Dennis pointed out, when we were in office the first time, and then over the years, we were very cautious of the silo effect that happens within any agency.  And the goal here is, to give top management and your key managers a vehicle whereby I, for example, can come into the office in the morning and if Senator Speier or Senator Cox has written a note or made a question as to, where do you stand on your backlog of cases, or where do you stand on the number of filings you have here, that we have a system that we have created, or in effect, a reporting system, at the highest level, that can track that information.  And from my perspective and the Commissioner’s perspective, it’s primary purpose is one of creating accountability.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, so the right hand knows what the left hand is doing.


MR. BAUM:  It’s a vehicle through which we can look at the entire enterprise and have real accountability.  And the information Dennis was talking about, the data remains in the units with the appropriate security protections and so forth that it needs to have, but what is coming up to us is, is the series of reports that drill down into that data and can show me, on a real time basis, how these cases are tracking.  
The very information, for example, that Tony was describing, I don’t need to call down to Tony and say, “Can you call up what your number of cases are?”  We will have a report that will show up right there for the Commissioner, or for me, or for Dennis, or for someone else.
CHAIR SPEIER:  I understand.

MR. BAUM:  And the other piece of it is, is the cross fertilization right now.  It’s critically important that each of the key people know what’s going on in the other division.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Two bills that I carried this year, that the governor signed, will require the department now to have the same opportunities for the providers of healthcare to complain, as they do in the Department of Managed Healthcare, and the ability to require prompt payment to providers in the Department of Insurance’s jurisdiction, much like the authority that exists in the Department of Managed Healthcare.

And Commissioner, I’m sure you agree, that as healthcare is evolving, and as much of healthcare is moving from managed, in some respects, to PPOs, that the standards that have been created in the Department of Managed Healthcare are ones that we should make sure are operational in the Department of Insurance, as well.  So my question to you is, have you anticipated those two new laws, and in terms of the administration of the department and the technological underpinnings, are you prepared to have that be implemented?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I may need Tony’s help again.  I think we may need a lot of help on this.  Your legislation creates a very significant increase in the workload of the department.  As worthwhile as it is, it will be a major challenge, because the potential for literally tens of thousands of complaints to be received by the department exists, and we are working our way through it.  There are significant budget and personnel issues that need to be addressed to meet the requirements of your legislation.  

I’ll ask my staff to go through it.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, Commissioner, I don’t want to really focus on these bills, necessarily, except that they’re now law.  We have a disagreement as to the actual impact it would have on the department.  And if I’m wrong and you’re right, I’ll be the first to say, let’s add staff.  But we compared the number of complaints filed in the Department of Managed Healthcare, it’s much bigger in terms of the number of entities and the number of insureds, and then extrapolate it from that.  So if, in fact, over time it appears that their numbers were not a basis on measurement, we will certainly address that.  

But, just a simple question, are we preparing to implement?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Yes, we are.  We’ve filed a BCP with the Department of Finance, so that was recently approved.  The bill requires as of July 1, 2006, we expect to have the staff on board at that point, as well as all the technical aspects in place regarding the provider complaint form, the new provider health informational page, as well as some announcements going out to the provider industry.
SENATOR SPEIER:  And the BCP was for how many positions?

MR. CIGNARLE:  It was for ten total positions—two positions in our legal division, to take any enforcement action with regard to any of the investigations that do occur; one position in market conduct, to perform strictly health related examinations; one position on our call center, to take in the additional calls that we expect from providers, and six positions in our claims services bureau, which will be the actual hands on professionals that will be taking these complaints in, investigating them, and building the cases.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  And that is what you requested and you got what you requested?

MR. CIGNARLE:  That’s correct.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you shouldn’t have any issues then around workload, it sounds like?  Okay.

All right.  Mr. Kelso.

CLARK KELSO:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Clark Kelso.  I’m here in my capacity as the state’s chief information officer.  I’ll keep my remarks very brief.  What I'd like to do is distribute to committee members.

And basically what I’d like to indicate is that the Department of Insurance does appear to be very well aligned with the strategic direction that we have set for the state’s IT program, in general.
As you heard, looking at your general report on the department and the summary of department operations, as this committee knows, the Department of Insurance is a little bit of a microcosm of all of government.  It’s got enforcement, licensing, a very large call center, regulatory powers—it does a little bit of everything that government agencies do.

As you’ve heard this morning, they are embarked upon a substantial effort to move their business systems and their IT systems towards web enabled, and increasingly electronic or self-service, while maintaining an existing multi-door access to the Department of Insurance.  So, they’re not turning their back on other methods of access.

On pages 8 and 9 of the strategic plan, you can see access is the first goal that we have set for the state’s IT program and for its business programs.  And the Department of Insurance, as you’ve heard, is engaging in, and has engaged over the last several years, in a series of projects under actions two on page 8, to improve the delivery of services to citizens, to businesses, to intergovernmental programs, interstate cooperation.  They really are doing a very good job of updating their technologies in a way that improves services, and that’s important.
On the cost efficiencies and consolidation, if you’ll turn briefly to page 23 of the plan, on action item number three, we talk about how do we update and make cost-effective our legacy applications and systems.  It seems to me the Department of Insurance is doing that quite well by making, as much as they can, their business operations web enabled.  That is likely to be a good strategy for avoiding the problem of having twenty-five 30-year-old legacy systems that in 20 years we’ll have to replace.  The web enabled systems tend to be much more flexible in being adaptable to changes.

And over on page 24, action item six, the department is embarked on a substantial voiceover IP implementation that quite a few other departments are following closely.  We’ve established a workgroup that is interdepartmental that is monitoring their progress so that we can learn as much as we can about how you would take advantage of a department wide voiceover IP implementation that is truly statewide.  As you know, the Department of Insurance has some 16 or 18 separate facilities; very large presence in Los Angeles and San Francisco, as well as Sacramento.  We’re very interested in their progress and the lessons that will be learned from that voiceover IP.

I’d love to say that my brief time as acting insurance commissioner and my current position, I’d love to say I could take credit for all of the good things that are happening there, but I was insurance commissioner too long ago to take credit for it.  And as state CIO, I can encourage, but the responsibility here lies really with the department, with the current insurance commissioner, their executive team and their IT staff.  As best we can tell, they are moving in exactly the right direction that we would like all departments to move.  
I thank you for giving me an opportunity of appearing today.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Kelso, do you then look at every department to determine whether or not there are areas where they should be updating their systems then?  So like the Department of Motor Vehicles, for instance?

MR. KELSO:  Yes, we do.  And many of those same departments have internal plans that either are fully developed, or are being developed, for how they can begin to move off of some of those legacy systems.  And the problem, as I have said in many contexts, it is not so much that these systems are not going to work, many of these systems work perfectly well.  The hardware works; the computer program still works.  The biggest problem we have, is many of the employees who actually built those systems and know how they operate, and know how to maintain them, those employees are themselves nearing, or are past, retirement age.  And the problem that we see really around government, is we’re losing the people who know how to maintain those systems.  And in that sense, we really have, sort of, legacy employees who we’re losing much more than legacy systems.  But we have departments throughout government—EDD, DMV, just as two examples that I’m dealing with recently that are looking at how they can modernize their legacy systems.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So this is certainly not the purview of our committee, but if you were to nudge a particular department to step up to the plate and do, in part, what the Department of Insurance is doing, and you were going to advise the Legislature on an area or department that we should be focused on, what department would it be?
MR. KELSO:  Oh well, that’s a very interesting question.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Or which departments would they be?

MR. KELSO:  Well, I don’t know that I’m prepared to identify particular departments today for that.  There are a number that are engaged actively in this process that I certainly can identify.  EDD is actively examining how it can pull its systems together.  DMV is looking at it.  These tend to be, as you might imagine, for this bigger departments, rather expensive transitions.  And certainly the advice that we’re giving all of them is, don’t come forward with this gigantic ticket that’s a quarter of a billion dollars to upgrade.  This is something that has to happen step by step in smaller pieces as much as anything, so that we keep the risks of all of these projects at an acceptable level. 

DOJ is another example that comes to mind.  They are in the midst of a substantial upgrading of their criminal information systems.  

So, this is actually activity that’s ongoing in quite a few departments.  And the way that I do tend to nudge is through the strategic plan, where we highlight, for example, modernization of legacy systems.  Although I don’t have any budget authority, it is fair to say that something that appears in this strategic plan does tend to drive departmental interests to some extent.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Questions.

SENATOR COX:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I’ll just direct a general question.  Mr. Commissioner, I certainly acknowledge that there has been some technological progress relative to licensing and all that sort of thing.  I am interested in knowing whether or not the contracts that had been let for these various….were they sole source contracts or are those….
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, sir, they were not.  The telecommunication replacement project and the enterprise information portal were both done through competitive bid, both which exceeded our delegated authority and required the DGS actually lead the procurement.

SENATOR COX:  So they’re not sole source, but through the Department of General Services?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Competitive bid, yes, sir.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Let me just ask you also, Mr. Ward, I’m not sure that this is exactly in your __________ but maybe the chief deputy, you did, in fact, on July 1, 2005, have a $28 million surplus and I’m wondering, you had that $28 million surplus but next year you’re asking for an increase in assessment.  I’m interested to know where that $28 million dollars went in broad general terms.

MR. WARD:  May I ask the source of your reference?

SENATOR COX:  Yes.  It is from the California Department of Insurance industry meeting November 16, 2005, on page 3 where it says “November 15th actual fees and license cash balance, ending cash balance $28,500,000.”  I got my information from the Department of Insurance.

MR. WARD:  Yes, sir.  We had a meeting with the industry on November 14th, at which that was given as a handout.  The last time we met with the industry to review the department’s licensing fee cash balance was about a year ago.  Prior to that in November of ’04.  At that time we told the industry that we thought that we would finish the ’04/’05 fiscal year with approximately $18 million dollars cash balance fees and licenses.  When we met with them last week, we updated those figures with actuals through June 30th.  And in fact, we’ve actually increased our cash balance to $28 million.  There were two sides to that.  One is, we had reduced expenditures.  We didn’t spend what we projected we would spend.  And on the revenue side, we actually took in more revenue than anticipated, almost to the tune of $6 million dollars resulting from late fees that were imposed on workers’ comp insurers in connection with their securities that they filed with us.

SENATOR COX:  The question is, do you still have the $28 million dollars in the bank then?

MR. WARD:  Yes, sir.  And we’ve…

SENATOR COX:  But at the same time the department is now asking for a substantial increase in assessment for next year?

MR. WARD:  No, sir.  No.  What we projected to the industry is, is if we continue with revenue flat, and we don’t have any basis at this point to believe that it will be anything other than flat, but we assumed a flat revenue strength.  We also looked at our expenditures based on projected budget authority.  And if you carry those forward, then we told the industry we felt that a fee increase would be necessary effective July of ’07.  And the only reason that we would need a fee increase in 2007, would be to maintain what we believe is a prudent reserve of our unrestricted funding source to cover cash flow needs in all aspects of the department’s operations, particularly those restricted funding sources where revenue does not match expenditures on a month to month basis.  

SENATOR COX:  So the increase is not until the year 2007 based on the current projections?

MR. WARD:  Yes, sir.  On July of ’07.  I believe it was a seven percent fee increase is what we projected.

SENATOR COX:  And at that particular time you would have in the department about $10 million dollars reserve?
MR. WARD:  We’d finish that year after the fee increase of around $10-, yes sir.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Let me just ask a couple of other questions, and I’m not sure exactly where to put all of this in.  In preparing for this committee hearing today, I went to the department’s website and one of the interesting things, and I know we’re going to talk about fraud and workers’ compensation a little bit later on, but Mr. Ward, I believe the webmaster, that’s your responsibility?
MR. WARD:  No, not really.  We have a…

SENATOR COX:  Well, let me just give this to you from the standpoint…

CHAIR SPEIER:  Is the webmaster here?

MR. WARD:  The webmaster is not here.

SENATOR COX:  Well I was interested only from the standpoint, I know how much the department has tried to work in terms of communication, and I want to, by the way, Mr. Commissioner, as you about the staffing on your press books.  You had a staff of five, and now I think you have eight, and I need some sort of explanation relative to that; just interested in that.  But I noticed that on the workers’ compensation part, the last time that this particular document was updated was May 12, 2003, and it just seems to me that a department that’s interested as you all are in communication, that for some reason you wouldn’t be talking about fiscal year 2000/2001 in….you may want to take a look at it.  I’m sure you don’t have an explanation for it today, or maybe you do.  But if you just take a look at it, I’d appreciate it.
Mr. Commissioner, could you address the issue relative to….and by the way, you’ll find this in the Department of Insurance material from the Department of Finance.  It talks about your staffing relative to the press portion of your operations.  It does propose in 2005/2006, that you, in fact, have eight people; you, do in fact, have five.  I’m interested in explanations relative to this particular issue.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Apparently from your comment a moment ago, you may need one more person to deal with the website.

CROSSTALK

SENATOR COX:  Or use the ones that you have, sir.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We’ll certainly ask the webmaster about this.  But let me speak to the issue that you raised.  One of the key ways to protect consumers is to provide them with information.  We have made major efforts to provide a variety of information to consumers about the perils, the advantages, and the opportunities that exist within the field of insurance, and that involves everything from annuities and seniors, some of which legislation was passed by this committee.  Also, it involves a significant increase in our effort to develop an internal mechanism for the sharing of information and knowledge within the department.  I think that you’re looking at perhaps three additional people over a course of three years to accomplish those tasks.  And apparently we still haven’t achieved the result that I would like, which would be an updated website.

SENATOR COX:  Well, Mr. Commissioner, I appreciate that.  Let me just share with you the listings, and it talks about Informational Officer II, Informational Officer I, Associate Government Program Analyst, Staff Service Analyst, Executive Assistant, and you’re saying those are folks that are necessary to get the information spread throughout the department?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, I didn’t say that at all.  I said that that was an additional task that was added to this function.

SENATOR COX:  Oh, I see.  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, where does the web function come if it doesn’t come under communications?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It does.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So is the webmaster one of those positions?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So the webmaster is one of those positions, and hey, they haven’t updated something since 2003, especially workers’ comp of all things?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Apparently not.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Someone is coming forward now to save the day.

MR. WARD:  Madam Chair, Dan Whetstone is our CIO, and I think he can give you some information on some recent changes that we’ve made on the website.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, are you one of those individuals in that listing that…

DAN WHETSTONE:  No, I’m not.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Oh, so where is your function?

MR. WHETSTONE:  I’m the CIO for the department—chief information officer.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Which is different from communications?

MR. WHETSTONE:  Yes, it is.  I’m responsible for this entire IT organization.
CHAIR SPEIER:  I see.

SENATOR COX:  So you’re not in this eight press folks?

MR. WHETSTONE:  No, I am not.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.

MR. WHETSTONE:  As they said, the webmaster does report to the communications office.  We’re currently undergoing some huge changes on our website.  We’ve purchased content management system for the website and things such as the document that you addressed.  We will know about those in the future because they will be aged and brought to people’s attention.  

But yes, right now there are some problems in our website.

CHAIR SPEIER:  What other problems beside the ones Senator Cox just identified?

MR. WHETSTONE:  Just mainly aging and that sort of thing.

MR. KELSO:   And Senators, this is a more general problem than just with this department.  Many of the state’s web pages are what I refer to as static, in the sense that it just presents information.  And the problem you have is, with the number of pages that we have that are static, they become stale.  Unless you have some process of, essentially, routine review by program people who know whether there’s been a change.  So this is a serious problem, Senator Cox.  I’m glad you’ve raised it in this context.  It’s something that I can remind other departments to take a look at as well.

CHAIR SPEIER:  This says 2000/2001 data.  So we’re looking at data being reported about the Fraud Division in that year, district attorney reports of the number of arrests in that year.  Separate from it just being stale information, I think it makes all of us in government look like we’re not on top of things.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Madam Chair, if I might.  There’s substantial updated information on the website with regard to workers’ comp and most every other thing.  The issue of stale documents is one of the things that we’re trying to deal with, but I suspect that if Senator Cox had gone to other portions of the website he would have found much more updated information than this.  And I don’t know where this one was on the website.  We’ll have to find out.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Commissioner, with all due respect, it’s on the first page
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Perhaps so.

SENATOR COX:  Where it says “fraud”, and I clicked on the fraud portion, and listed underneath the fraud, it has to do with…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, perhaps I should ask for more staff, or make the staff work a little more efficiently.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I would just have the webmaster do his or her job, it sounds like.  I mean, what does the webmaster do if they do not update the web?

MR. BAUM:  We certainly don’t disagree.  And in fact, that’s, as Mr. Whetstone just said, we’ve gone through, literally, this last six months, a contracting process that has allowed us to now have a much more interactive website so that each division and each sub-bureau is responsible for keeping the data updated.  It was for this very reason, I mean….I went on it when we first got there and I found stuff from 2000 that was on there.  And it was that that caused us to sit down with Dan and the communications folks and say, “We need to redo the mechanism that we’re using for managing the website.”  So we have a very different one.  We are in the process of going through every one of these things.  It happens to have literally been happening over the last two or three months.
SENATOR COX:  Well, Mr. Garamendi, let me just ask you a different question and that is, I pointed out to you where it says this has been revised on….one of them was July, and the other one was May, I believe, 2003.  And sometimes when you deal with websites, even if you change a color, that then means that it has been revised.  What I mentioned to you was the 2000/2001 numbers relative to the number of cases that were submitted and all that sort of thing.  It begs the question, whether or not you have, in fact, the data for 2002, 2003 and 2004?  That’s the real issue.  Is, have you correlated that data and if you had the….could, in fact, the webmaster put in the numbers to replace the existing numbers that are here in terms of cases that were submitted and what monetary amount and restitution and all that sort of thing?
MR. WARD:  Well, the short answer is, that we not only have the data, I think we supplied much of the data to this committee in preparation for the hearing.  
But, with respect to the question I think you’re raising, which is, having timely documents on the web, that is the whole purpose of what we’ve just gone through so that that will, in fact, be the case.  We do not disagree that the information that we have on the web should be as timely and accurate as possible.  We’ve just set a system that will now allow us to do that.

SENATOR COX:  So you have collated all the information to replace the numbers that are on this website?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  In a few moments, when you get to the fraud portion of this hearing, you’ll have the updated information.  You already have it in your file.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  We’ll see.  And if, for example, you don’t have it in the binder, you don’t have any difficulty in providing it to us?

COMMISSIOINER GARAMENDI:  Absolutely.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.

SENATOR COX:  One more question.  I apologize.  Any of the 
$28 million spent for technology?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m sorry, what was your question.

SENATOR COX:  Any of the $28 million surplus spent for technology?

MR. WARD:  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  I didn’t see in your budget where you had specifically allocated x-number of dollars for technological improvements.

MR. WARD:  The department’s every infrastructure, improvement, or procurement that we make is spread to all of the department’s revenue sources based on our cost allocation methodology.  So we know, based on how the employees record their times and activities, we know which revenue sources should pay its share of infrastructure procurements.

SENATOR COX:  And then would you provide that information to us.  I don’t think we have it in this material.

MR. WARD:  Absolutely.  And I would like to mention that when we met with the insurance industry in November of 2004, we did that precisely.  We broke out exactly what piece of these IT expenditures were going to hit fees and licenses so that they could see it.  We were fortunate, in all honesty, that we had substantial increase in revenue from these workers’ comp late filing fees that allowed us to engage in these infrastructure improvements much faster than we probably otherwise could have.

CHAIR SPEIER:  You’re welcome.  That was my bill.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  Now we’ll move on to Consumer Services and Market Conduct Branch.  We’re going to take that next because we have a number of witnesses, evidently, who are here and want to testify on the auto body issues.  
So, Mr. Cignarle, if you would come forward and then I’d like to ask Gene Crozat and Allen Wood, and, I believe, Mike Gunning from PIFF is here, and Kate Theil from ACIC.  And then any other witnesses from the auto body shop community who are here to testify, you’re welcome to come sit in the front row and then come forward after the other individuals speak.
Okay, Mr. Wood, if you’d like to come forward, you can sit at this other seat up front here.

Now Commissioner, this issue came to the attention of the committee about a year-and-a-half ago.  We’ve had a number of informal gatherings on the issue.  And I think I’m frustrated in that it does not appear that we are making a lot of headway.  So you’re going to hear testimony from a number of people this morning, and then, hopefully, we can resolve this.  I don’t think this is a tough issue to resolve.  I think there’s a simple fix out there.  I think if we put our heads together we can get it.  
What is disturbing to me is that there are so many complaints that have been filed with the department, apparently without a response.  I’m hoping this new technology system is going to allow you to kind of check on the age of complaints in a timely fashion so that you can, in fact be responsive.  But why don’t we get started.

Mr. Crozat, if you’d like to come forward.  And then, Mr. Cignarle, if you can be prepared to respond after all of the people testify.  Mr. Crozat, would you like to begin?  Please begin.  State your name please.

GENE CROZAT:  My name is Gene Crozat.  I represent G & C Auto Body.  We have three stores—one in San Rafael, one in Petaluma, and one in Santa Rosa.  I’ve been repairing cars since 1961, personally, and painting cars over 40 years.  I took it up in the Air Force, and that’s where I started my training—Castle Air Force Base.  And like everybody, we all move along and roll like a tumbleweed and grow.

At this point in time, I’ve seen the industry make a lot of changes from when I started.  We all know what we think the problems are here today, and I’m not here to tell the Commissioner what to do or how to do his job.  I can tell from sitting back here, he’s got a very big job and it’s just not the window that I’m here to address.

But what I am here to address is customers, consumers being treated horribly.  Women in wheelchairs crying in my office and my lobby that the insurance companies won’t pay their bills.  They don’t know what to do.  The adjuster tells them, “Why don’t you pay it out of your pocket?”  And, “Mr. Crozat, why don’t you eat it?
Now I want to say, there’s a lot of good insurance companies, and I know a lot of them are here today.  But I know there’s also bad ones.  And there’s good body shops and there’s poor body shops.  
The bottom line I would like to say, first of all, our communication with the Department of Insurance really started back a year or so before this letter addressed to me is November 2, 1995.  And this letter is from Cindy Osias.

CHAIR SPEIER:  She’s somewhat famous in the department.

MR. CROZAT:  And I asked her, “What do we do?  Insurance companies are coming in here and arbitrarily capping paint materials.”  

An industry standard started, I’d say in the early seventies.  Before then, all body shops bought their paints from local paint stores.  You went down and you got a factory pack.  Nobody mixed their own.  You bought a pack that was made up from the factory.  And, you got receipts.  Soon, the industry realized there was larger and larger shops and they started mixing their own.  We didn’t mix them in pints and quarts, we bought bulk and gallons.  My store alone purchased probably over $100,000 a month in paint.  We buy in bulk.  There no receipts accept for bulk material.  And paint material is paid in the industry by the hour, just like labor hour.  For every hour you paint, you get x-number of dollars an hour for every hour you paint.  
Well, it doesn’t make sense to me, and it never did, and I don’t think it does anybody in this room, that if paint material now is capped at $350 and you paint in, say, eight or ten hours, and that was at $350 cap, where did the money go to pay for the material for the other 15 or 20 hours?  It’s arbitrarily stole off your bill.  And that insurance company, the ones that do do that, say, “Mr. Crozat, either eat it, or make your customer pay it.”  
And what’s happened, when people bought their insurance, they were told to pay their deductible and the remainder of the bill would get paid.  
I would like to say that in our endeavors to settle this problem, this letter was written to us from Cindy Osias, it says, “Dear Mr. Crozat:  Upon my return from vacation, I reviewed the documents and complaints you sent in which you allege that certain insurers are refusing to pay more than a certain amount for labor costs for car repairs.  I then contacted the Consumer Service Division of the department to learn what had occurred at the level of the complaints.  Interesting, at the same time the Commissioner referred a letter to me which brought to his attention some insurer’s practice of arbitrary capping or limiting the cost of paint and material used in repairing insured’s vehicles.  

The department’s position is this, the practice of arbitrary capping or limiting cost is illegal.  I will outline the reasons below in depth.”
A very deep letter on everything that tells you why you cannot cap paint materials.  That was back in ’95.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, fast forward to the year 2005.

MR. CROZAT:  Complaints to the Commissioner, G & C Auto Body has sent…where are those boxes.  I’d just like, not to go through any, but just let everybody get a visual of how many there are.  Because it would take you a week to go through them.  These are Department of Insurance complaints.

CHAIR SPEIER:  That you’ve filed?  In any case, there are a lot of complaints there, is that correct?

MR. CROZAT:  G & C and its consumers have filed over 800 complaints.  To this date, I haven’t heard whether the Department of Insurance has hollered one foul.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Crozat, you need to address the committee.

MR. CROZAT:  I’m sorry.  To this day, I don’t know that anybody has called one foul on any one of these complaints—over 800 of them.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, one of the first issues, you just mentioned capping, which there’s a letter from the department back in 1995 by Cindy Osias that’s saying arbitrary capping is illegal.

MR. CROZAT:  Is illegal.  In this letter she outlines below all the reasons she’d say it is illegal.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  The other issue, Commissioner, that kind of struck me as being interesting, it is a clever way, to the extent that a company would cap the payment relative to painting and include the cost of paint in that cap, is that the state loses sales tax in big chunks.  And in fact, I think I read somewhere in these documents, as much as $45 million a year.  So, to the extent that we allow capping to go on, and whether it’s arbitrary or reasonable, the fact that the sales tax is not being paid is a serious issue that you and I should both be concerned about.  So I think that really needs to be addressed by the department.  Do you have a comment on that?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  My staff is prepared to deal with this entire issue.  The capping issue was not brought to our attention prior to this hearing, but we’ll be happy to discuss that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The capping was in the backgrounder. 

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Tony.

MR. CIGNARLE:  Madam Chair, the great majority, 99 percent or more, of the complaints filed with the department, relate not to capping paint materials.  We’ve only received less than seven complaints in the department that relate specifically to the paint material cap.  The majority of the complaints relate to the labor rate capping—setting a labor rate based on a labor rate survey, as well as alleged steering of the consumer to a DRP (direct repair program body shop).  

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  But, you’re now alerted to the fact this is an issue.  It’s a loss of revenue to the state.  It’s something that has to be addressed, right?

MR. CIGNARLE:  In reference to the complaints over the last six months, we have seen an increase in the paint material complaints mostly from Mr. Crozat’s operation.  We are looking at those issues.  We have inquiries into all the insurance companies that are involved.  We’ll be looking at that.  We don’t disagree with Cindy Osias’ legal opinion.  We agree with it.  And if there is arbitrary capping of paint materials, we will act accordingly on that.  
With regard to the sales tax issue, I understand that issue was presented to the attorney general’s office, and we will defer to them as to where that investigation goes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, separate from deferring to where the AG goes with past practices, sales tax should be paid on products in California, period.  And the extent to which it’s not being paid, is inappropriate, and I would think the department would want to take steps irrespective of what the AG does.

MR. CIGNARLE:  Absolutely, but it’s a question of how much the body shop charges, not how much the insurance company pays, or is willing to pay for a claim.  The body shops are the sole determining entity that determines how much they’re going to charge and how much of that is tax.  If the insurance company is only willing to pay a certain amount, and the body shop believes that it’s due a higher amount, it will charge the consumer that higher amount, in which case the sales tax will be higher and thus paid to the state.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Senator Cox.

SENATOR COX:  Well, it appears to me that material, Mr. Crozat, that you passed out, your issue has to do with capping at $350.  


MR. CROZAT:  That’s just one issue.


TODD BISHOP:  Actually, Senator Cox…


CHAIR SPEIER:  Wait a second, sir.  You haven’t been recognized yet.  We’re having Mr. Crozat present, along with questions from the committee.


SENATOR COX:  Well, okay.  It seems to me….and I understand the issue of capping….your problem is that the insurance companies have capped the paint and materials at $350.  That’s just one issue.  But in fact, the state of California does collect the full 7.5 percent or whatever the sales tax, 7.5, on the full $350 plus.  It was a sublet of $4, so $350, they did, in fact, collect the entire 7.5…

MR. CROZAT:  What about the other $8- or $900 they took of the bill arbitrarily?  Reached across the table and ripped it off the page and say, “We’re not paying the difference.?


SENATOR COX:  I’m just trying to establish that sales tax was in fact paid on the $350.


MR. CROZAT:  Sure.  On the very lower amount.  That wasn’t the bill.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  All right.  And the bill that I see, I don’t, in fact, see however, that you’re bill has been reduced by a specific amount because it was not paid by the insurance company.


MR. CROZAT:  No, present a bill and they arbitrarily tell the customer as another method to steer, “You either pay this out of your pocket, or you can go where we send you.”  That’s another method to steer.  They use many methods, and as we go to steering ________, I’ll keep it to five minutes, I’ll show you where I’m trying to take this.


SENATOR COX:  California Casualty is a company in which you are contracted with or not?


MR. CROZAT:  No.


SENATOR COX:  You don’t have a contract.  Do you have contracts with other companies?


MR. CROZAT:  I do.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  All right.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Why don’t you present your presentation on the issue.  I mean, I think what we need to get to, Mr. Crozat, is it because of your grit, you have gone to small claims court and had small claims court judges…


MR. CROZAT:  I’ll keep it brief.  G & C ________ to provide you, our customer, the finest quality repairs available while protecting your investment and returning your car/vehicle to pre-accident condition.  Unfortunately, there are times when insurance company will hold payment for processes that are required to return your vehicle into pre-accident condition.  If by chance your insurance company should refuse to pay for some of these repairs, we will call you and explain each process and the options that you have.  You may choose to, (1) not have the processes or process done; pay the processes or process out of your pocket yourself; authorize the process and let us assist you in filing small claims court action in an attempt to help you collect the amount not paid by your insurance.  
California Department of Insurance regulation 2695.7 states, Where an insured denies or rejects the first party claim in the hole or in the part, it shall do so in writing and shall provide to the claimant a statement listing all basis for such rejection or denial and the factual and legal basis for each of these reasons given for such rejections or denial which is within the insurers knowledge.  
When insured denies a first party claim in the hole or in the part it is based upon a specific policy provision, a condition, or exclusion.  A written denial shall include references thereto and provide an explanation or the application of that provision, condition, or exclusion to the claimant.
Every person who denies or rejects a third party claim in the hole or in the part, or disputes liability of damage shall do so in writing.

I have never had a customer of mine receive this from an insurance company.  And the Commissioner does not uphold this regulation.  I don’t know what book he is going out of.  
Every person that wants to know why he’s not getting paid should be told this, and I give it to them.  
Then, as that as started happening, we have gone to court 250 times.  Out of 250 times, we’ve lost 16 out of 250 small claims cases.  
An awful lot of judges said the bill is fair and reasonable.  The method of repair is fair and reasonable.  You cannot fix labor rates.  Judge Serena Wong said one day, “If the labor rate has to be an x-number of dollars, how can it ever go up?  What day is God going to come down and sanction an increase?  He’s not.  It’s blatant price fixing.”


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let me engage with the Commissioner for a moment if you don’t mind.  Mr. Commissioner, my concern is this, this reminds me so much of what we call balance billing in the healthcare arena, where some of the providers now want to balance bill the patient because the specialists or the IPA did not actually pay the amount for the service.  And certainly in the healthcare arena, we don’t allow for balance billing.  You cannot go after the patient for a payment that’s not made.  

Now, I just want to go through a few of these cases that the gentleman has just provided to us and see if you feel, as I do, that there’s an issue here.  I don’t think anyone should have to go to small claims court to get their car fixed.  We make our premium payments.  When something unfortunate happens and we get into a car accident, there should be an expectation that it is going to be paid—fair and reasonable, no doubt.  But just so you can….I’m just going to run through a couple of these.

This is a third party claim, Anita Bennets.  She calls here insurance company, which was Farmers, and they say to her that she can go wherever she wants to get her car repaired.  Geico, representative calls the consumer and tells her that if she goes to G & C and not to Blake’s that Geico will not pay for the repairs and that the consumer will have to pay for them.

That’s one.

The next one is a third party.  In this situation the consumer is sent to Blake’s for an estimate and the consumer is not comfortable with this arrangement.  Geico representative tells the consumer that they do not pay whatever a shop wants and pays only a contracted rate regardless of the shop rate.  The consumer calls Geico representative and tells her that the vehicle is at G & C.  Geico representative tells the consumer that they have to pick up his vehicle and take it to Blake’s for an estimate.  The consumer calls the Geico representative and tells them that the vehicle is not safe and is not drivable.  Geico representative tells the consumer that they still have to bring the car to Blake’s for an estimate.  

Another case:  Geico representative instructs the consumer to take his vehicle to Blake’s Auto Body where Geico does their estimates.  One representative finished estimate, he asked the consumer if he wanted a check written to Blake’s.  The consumer tells the representative that he can make the check payable to G & C Auto Body.  The representative tells the consumer Geico has problems with G & C regarding customer complaints, paint matching, and that Geico does not work with G & C.
That’s just Geico.  I mean, there are other insurers in here that tell a similar story.  But in many of these cases, there appears to be real steering going on.  And we didn’t run that bill through the Legislature with the intent to have steering to continue to go on.

So, what do you say to the Geico insurance agent or adjuster, who makes those kinds of statements?  Is there some kind of disciplinary action that should be taken against that individual?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  When we receive a complaint, we have a process that has been longstanding to investigate the complaint.  If we find there is evidence that the complaint is valid and there is a breach of either the regulations or the law, then appropriate action has been taken.  I'd like Tony to bring you up to date on where we are with these complaints and others of this kind.  Tony.

MR. CIGNARLE:  To date, we’ve received, over the last two years, about 600 complaints regarding labor rate surveys and the steering issue.  Sixty percent have been filed by Mr. Crozat; another total of perhaps 80-90 percent has been filed by about six shops, out of the 4,000 that are licensed by the Bureau of Automotive Repair.  We’ve investigated every single one of them.  We’ve responded to every single one of them.  The implication that there has been no response is not accurate.  We communicate with Mr. Crozat on a weekly basis, if not a daily basis between him and his assistant, Elaine Saturday, between all telephone communication, all the letters that go back and forth between the department and Mr. Crozat.  We’re aware of his Geico….Mr. Crozat will file complaints on a two-month period, let’s say, against a particular insurance company.  For a couple of months it will be Farmers, and in a couple of months it will be the Auto Club, a couple of months it will be State Farm.  As of about three or four months ago he began a complaint filing with the department regarding Geico.  We’re currently investigating all those complaints.  He’s received a letter from us regarding those complaints.  We’ve contacted all of the consumers that are identified in those complaints.  We’ve contacted Geico in every single one of those complaints.  If we are able to find evidence of steering, or labor rate survey issues, we will take action.  We have take three enforcement actions, to date, over the last….it was probably in the last three or four months against three different insurance companies.  Each of those actions, two of them were specifically….the primary allegations in those complaints and those accusations are the labor rate survey issue and the steering issues.  One was against Progressive; one was against Infinity; and one was against Mercury.  We have a number of other cases in the works that we’re looking at.  At any point in time a case rises to the level of finding violations and putting together a case for our legal division, it will be sent up there.  And we have a number of cases that we’re looking at now.  

I think one of the major issues though is the body shop industry, specifically Mr. Crozat and others have a different interpretation of the law.  Specifically, almost all of Mr. Crozat’s complaints and the body shop’s industry complaints, state as their primary allegation, the fact that the labor rate surveys are invalid or inaccurate because the surveys do not contain the posted labor rate of the body shops.  We do not share that interpretation.  And in fact, that is absolutely contrary to how we interpret the law.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Wait, wait, wait.  Let’s stop there.  So you’re saying that a posted rate, I walk into a body shop and the posted rate is not the rate.

MR. CIGNARLE:  Is not the rate that is required based on our interpretation of SB 1988, that enacted 758 of the Insurance Code regarding labor rate surveys.  The primary reason for that is, during the course of the year 2000, when SB 1988 went through its amendment process, for example in the April 13th version of the SB 1988, it added the sentence that would have specifically required the posted labor rate to be used in the surveys.  Obviously, the insurance industry opposed this amendment.  In the June 15th amended version of the survey, that sentence was taken out, therefore, it was left silent.  
We believe the legislative intent is that we cannot require the insurance companies to use the posted labor rate as their basis for their surveys.  We believe that the prevailing rate, which we define as the rate actually charged by shops within a geographic area regardless of what they may post as their labor rate, is the rate that should be used in the insurer’s surveys.  And that is the primary basis for the great majority of the complaints filed by the body shops.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Now the fact that 250 cases go to small claims court and 95 percent of them are upheld would suggest that judges, or an attorney serving as a judge, has reviewed the law and interpreted it in a manner, and it’s consistent.  It’s case after case after case.  

Now, Mr. Crozat is an unusual person who has the time and the energy and the craziness, excuse me for saying that, Mr. Crozat, but who would take that kind of energy and pursue it in court?  Who has the time and the money to do that?  

Now, you said most of your complaints have come from Mr. Crozat and 40 percent from a smaller group of others.  You and I both know that there’s a whole sea of auto body shop owners out there that are fearful of coming forward, because if they come forward, they will be blackballed, they will lose their business, and they can’t afford it.  So our job is to fix it so that no one has to be fearful about it and just do the right thing.  No steering.  It’s real clear.  It’s real clear in the law.

MR. CIGNARLE:  We acknowledge that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And this issue about the posted….just because it came out of the legislation doesn’t mean….you know what the process is here.  That’s not necessarily legislative intent.  That’s about trying to get a bill through the process and getting it signed into law.  It’s then up to you and the department to interpret that law and do what is fair and reasonable.  Then why do we have posted rates at all?  If they’re not going to be used by anyone, why even require posted rates?

MR. CIGNARLE:  I agree.  We have interpreted it as I have described.  That it does not require….these surveys do not require the posted rate to be used as the basis.  If however, in a geographic area the shops as a rule charge their posted rate to customers, then obviously the posted rate and the labor rate used in the surveys, the margin will be greatly narrowed.  But if the shops are charging much less money than what their posted rate is, then the prevailing rate which is in the statute, the prevailing rate charged by shops, that is how we interpret the statute, and that is how we’ve developed regulations…

CHAIR SPEIER:  One last question and then Senator Cox has one.  The law says that the car is to be returned to you in the pre-accident condition and that you have the right to take your car wherever you want and that any fair and reasonable charges will be paid.  For all intents and purposes, that’s what the law says.  So, I take my car to G & C, my insurance company or the third party insurance company doesn’t want to pay their rate, but it’s a fair and reasonable rate.  What should prevail?  Shouldn’t the fair and reasonable rate prevail regardless of whether the insurance company likes it or not?  I mean, the differential between these two rates is $86, so it’s $11 an hour differential.  And if all these cases have gone to small claims court and a judge there has found that to be fair and reasonable, I mean, it’s not just one case.  We’ve got 250 cases here.
MR. CIGNARLE:  We absolutely take into account the fact that a consumer or a body shop has gone to small claims court and been successful.  However, while that may allow us to more intensely focus on an issue and ferret out whether in fact there was or was not violations, in itself it is not a violation by the mere fact that a body shop or a consumer was victorious in small claims court.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  But let’s go back to the conduct of the adjuster/agent.  Go ahead.

MR. CIGNARLE:  I’m sorry.

CHAIR SPEIER:  If we go back to the conduct of this agent, I’m sure you’ve seen these complaints from Mr. Crozat, correct?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Yes, I have.

CHAIR SPEIER:   So many of the same people are making the same statements over and over again to different consumers saying basically, “You can’t go there.  You’ve gotta go here.”  There’s signed affidavits.  At what point does the department say to this insurance agent, or this adjuster, that you’re not following the law?  Have you taken any action against any of these adjusters?

MR. CIGNARLE:  With regards to the Geico case, no.  We are in the process of investigating that issue.  And if we are able to gather the evidence and show that there is a violation, we will prosecute them.  And it would not necessarily be against the adjuster specifically, it would be against the insurance company that employs that adjuster, because I understand it’s an employee of the insurance company.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So, there’s no standard that the adjuster has got to maintain separate from the insurance company.  It’s an action against the insurance company?

MR. CIGNARLE:  He acts for the insurance company.

CHAIR SPEIER:  He’s an agent of the insurance company, so you go after the insurance company.

Actually, Senator Cox had a question.

SENATOR COX:  I wanted to just talk about this labor rate survey for just a moment.  And I’ve got three of four questions, Madam Chair, relative to this.

Talk to us about the labor rate survey.  That’s done by the department; it’s done by the company; it’s done based upon a region; the region is amalgamated; how was done, just for our edification?

MR. CIGNARLE:  The insurance code statute requires that if an insurance company conducts a labor rate survey to determine and set a prevailing labor rate in a geographic area, that it must submit that survey to the Department of Insurance.  And the Department of Insurance gathers those surveys and then makes that information available to the public upon its request.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  So, now then the question becomes about fair and reasonable.  What goes into the labor rate survey, is it the contractual rate that the insurance company has….Mr. Crozat indicated that he has some contracts with some insurance companies.  Is it that rate which is considered?  What is the rate that is used?
MR. CIGNARLE:  The rate that we believe should be used is the prevailing rate that is charged by the shops within a given geographic area.  Not necessarily the posted rate, and not, specifically, the contracted rate because we believe the contracted rate to also be an unfairly discounted rate.  So it’s somewhere in between, and it’s basically what we consider it to be in terms of whether it’s accurate or not is, is the rates being charged by shops within the geographic area determined by the insurance companies.

SENATOR COX:  So then it would be my understanding, based upon what you have said, that if the contracted rate, the body shop, it would be in their best interest to continue to raise their posted rate?  It would be in their best interest to raise that.

MR. CIGNARLE:  In our opinion it would have no effect on a valid survey because we would suggest that the posted rate is not used, and also the contracted rate.  So, whether they raise their posted rate, it would only be applicable if they actually charged that higher posted rate to customers.

SENATOR COX:  But then with respect to the prevailing rate, there is a situation of where that may very well be higher than the contracted rate?

MR. CIGNARLE:  We would suggest that it should be.  The contracted rate is a discounted rate that insurance companies contract with direct repair program shops for both their parts and labor.

SENATOR COX:  Exactly.  Kind of like a preferred provider organization.

MR. CIGNARLE:  Correct.  And therefore, our opinion is that those rates should not be included in these surveys performed.

SENATOR COX:  Which rates should not be?

MR. CIGNARLE:  The discounted contract rates should not be included in the surveys.

SENATOR COX:  Well, and my question, and the question is why?  I need to understand that.

MR. CIGNARLE:  Why not?

SENATOR COX:  Yes.  The question is, why not?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Because we believe that rate is a discounted rate and the consumer should not be harmed because all the policies essentially, as Senator Speier suggested, need to put you back in substantially the same condition of that vehicle.  And the regulations require that the insurance company pay for the amount which will cause the vehicle to be repaired in a workman like manner.  Now, that can vary.  
If you go to a high end shop like, Mr. Crozat’s, he’s going to charge higher than perhaps the going rate or prevailing rate in that geographic area.  Do consumers have a right to go to his shop?  Absolutely.  Does he have a right to charge that higher rate?  Absolutely.  The question that we look at is, whether the insurance company is required to pay that amount, or whether in making its offer to the consumer, in essence, and to the shop, it has made a reasonable offer and what support did it provide in making that reasonable offer?

SENATOR COX:  Is the reasonable and fair offer then, is that rate the prevailing rate?

MR. CIGNARLE:  If the insurer has conducted a survey and has determined and set a prevailing rate in that geographic area, then in most cases the insurer will use that survey to suggest that is why we’re setting that labor rate at, for example, $76 an hour.  We believe that to be fair and reasonable, and that is the amount that we’re going to pay, and any additional amount that Mr. Crozat or other shops may charge, the consumer could be out of pocket.

SENATOR COX:  Well, let me tell where I’m going with this.  Mr. Crozat presented a bill and said he wrote off $800 off of this bill.  I don’t see this anywhere on the document.  But I’m just trying to figure, it would seem to me that Mr. Crozat always is going to have his bill higher and he’s going to look at the prevailing rate and say, “That’s less than I, in fact, am charging and therefore, I’m going to write off x-number of dollars for you.”  So, tell me how that fits into the picture.
MR. CIGNARLE:  Well, I don’t think it necessarily fits in because Mr. Crozat was charging higher than everybody else in the geographic area, or at least at the high end of that range prior to the survey law coming into effect.  So he was always charging higher than the rest of the shops in that area.
SENATOR COX:  All of the adjusters and/or insurance company direct writers who have direct claim service, are they all required to read from the script as to what the law is?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Yes.  At any point in time an insurance company makes a referral to a consumer, they’re required to either send a verbatim by statute based on SB 551, notice to the consumer advising them that they have a right to have the vehicle repaired in the shop of their choice; that they have agreed to go with the shop recommended by the insurance company; and the requirement that I think causes some misunderstanding between the shops is that specifically it requires the insurance company to advise the consumer that they will warrant the repairs once they’ve agreed to the DRP shop.  So, many of the complaints that do come in regarding the labor rate, using posted labor rates, the insurance company is saying they will guarantee the repairs in the DRP shop, but they won’t guarantee it in the consumer’s chosen shop.  It will take us five to ten days to come out and do an inspection of the vehicle.  If you go to a non DRP shop and….those are the three or four major areas that the body shops contend is, in fact, steering.  All of those are required by either statute or regulation for the insurance company to do.  So, if the Legislature wants to prohibit that, we don’t necessarily oppose that, but in our interpretation of the statute and the associated regulations, many of the things that the body shops are contending are illegal and, in fact, are steering, based on the evidence that we do get from the shops and the documentation that we analyze, many of those things that do occur are, in fact, either permitted by law or required by law.
SENATOR COX:  Does the department from time to time verify that it’s the script that’s being used?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Correct.  Both when we receive an individual consumer complaint, we look at that, as well as in our market conduct examinations of the insurance company.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And you do that because all of those are taped conversations with the adjusters, are they?

MR. CIGNARLE:  No.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, have you ever listened to….any complaint that’s come to you, have you then gone to the insurance company and said, “We want the tape of that individual and that conversation?”  Have you done that?

MR. CIGNARLE:  We’ve analyzed that request.  I’m not able to comment as to whether we’ve done or not done that.  Our legal counsel has looked at that along with our investigators, and I’m not able to comment on whether….if we have, in fact, done that, it would be an investigatory issue that I’m not able to comment on.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I guess my only point is this, my understanding is, they’re all taped conversations.  So, it is the clearest, quickest way to find out whether or not there’s steerage by just subpoenaing the actual tapes and then reviewing those tapes.  And the fact that that hasn’t happened, is probably not a good reflection.  

And I guess….you know what I worry about, Mr. Commissioner, I worry about a lot of class action suits being filed.  That’s where this is going.  And I don’t think the insurance companies want to see that.  And I don’t think that we want to see that.  We just want to see people get their cars repaired and that they get payment.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Madam Chair, this conversation has gone on for some time and it seems to me as though there is a fundamental question of what the law is, and how it is to be put into effect.  If you would like to clarify the law with a piece of legislation, we’d be happy to work with you on such clarification.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I don’t think it needs to be clarified.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  But obviously from this conversation, there is a difference of opinion as to exactly what the law requires.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I guess I disagree with you.  I think it’s real clear.  Geico, for instance, has not done a labor survey, so how can you possibly cap a rate if you haven’t even had a labor survey.  That’s real clear in the law.  You don’t do a labor survey…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, that’s not where the lack of clarity is that I’m referring to.  That, of course, is….
CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I’m talking about these Geico cases that I just referenced.  Those are the ones that I was talking about.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  And you just heard from my staff that all of these complaints, all of them, are either under investigation, or have been investigated.  And the issue in the older cases have been resolved.  With regard to those cases that are under investigation, they’re under investigation.  Everyone of them.  Every one of these cases.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But my understanding is, that in all of these cases, the only way the consumers were made whole was by going to small claims court, not by the Department of Insurance intervening.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  This takes us to the ambiguity I was speaking to.  The question that the small claims court dealt with the labor rate, and apparently the small claims court was not satisfied with the labor rate and required an additional payment to be made.  That’s fine.  Now, if this goes to a superior court and we get a superior court decision, then we have to obey that.  But we have regulations.  We have a longstanding interpretations on this.  If you find, or anybody finds those interpretations, or those regulations, to be inappropriate, then please change the law.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Cignarle, how much did Progressive pay?
MR. CIGNARLE:  All three of those cases are currently scheduled for administrative hearing and they have not been settled or adjudicated at this point.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So they actually haven’t made any kind of….you’ve done market conduct…

MR. CIGNARLE:  No.  The pleadings have been filed and served against those three insurance companies.  Once they’re filed, a hearing is scheduled.  The filings only occurred maybe 90 days ago, ballpark, and so the hearings are scheduled and there are settlement conferences, etc. going on.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Mr. Crozat, if you would close.  And then there are some other people that want say…
MR. CROZAT:  I have a few recommendations.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.

MR. CROZAT:  One, the Commissioner wanted to know what he could do about adjusters that walked in arbitrary…Penal Code 550(b), It is unlawful to do, or to knowingly assist or conspire with any person to do any of the following:  To present, or cause to be presented, any written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, or in opposition, to a claim for payment or other benefits pursuant to an insurance policy knowing that the statement contains any false or misleading information concerning any material fact.  Every person who violates paragraph 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 of this subdivision is guilty of a felony and punishable by imprisonment in state prison for 2, 3, or 5 years and a fine not exceeding $50,000.  
If you, Mr. Garamendi, want to stop adjusters walking in  and taking money off the table and making our consumers in California pay it out of their pocket, implement this.  This is the law.  It’s never been implemented.

So, what I recommend is, you change the ruling.  The Department of Insurance is not going to fairly handle people taking surveys.  I suggest through the Bureau of Automobile Repair, that every year when you submit your license, that you submit your posted labor rate—what you charge off the street.  

Why should Geico get any better deal than you, Senator, when you’re coming to get something done?  Why are they a sacred cow that they get a better deal than you?  Lowered rates are deals you make for….concessions you make for volume work sent to you for a discount, and that helps them save money.  But when you don’t have a deal with them, you don’t owe them a deal.  They shouldn’t get any better deal than you.  That’s what they don’t seem to understand.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.

SENATOR COX:  Just a question.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Go ahead.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Crozat, let me just ask you a question.  You’ve got three shops.  You’re doing pretty well for yourself, I understand.

MR. CROZAT:  I don’t know.  I go home at midnight.  That isn’t pretty well.

SENATOR COX:  I understand.  

MR. CROZAT:  But I go home at midnight and so does my wife.  I see her once a week on Saturday.

SENATOR COX:  I do the same thing.  I didn’t mean to get you into that particular situation.

MR. CROZAT:  Okay.  I just want to clarify.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Maybe it’s be design, is that what you’re suggesting?
SENATOR COX:  How many repairs do you do a month?

MR. CROZAT:  Probably 600 repairs a month.

SENATOR COX:  How many insurance companies do you have a preferred contract with?

MR. CROZAT:  Probably a dozen.

SENATOR COX:  How many major companies are in the marketplace in your judgment?

MR. CROZAT:  Oh, I’d say 100, really.  Maybe 50, really, in the marketplace.

SENATOR COX:  And you do business with 12.

MR. CROZAT:  I have discounted rates with 12.

SENATOR COX:  You have a contract with 12.

MR. CROZAT:  Right.

SENATOR COX:  Is that 12, is that something that goes up and down?

MR. CROZAT:  Sure, year to year.  Their philosophy change; yours.  You end some agreements, you take some on.

SENATOR COX:  And so it’s a situation of where that number fluctuates from time to time.

MR. CROZAT:  Certainly.

SENATOR COX:  Based upon what they pay.  They decide that you’re charging too much, or you want to much, or…

MR. CROZAT:  Well, I’ve had some companies that stuck me at the same rate for six straight years.  I finally had to say, “Look, my guys have families and wives that need insurance.  I can’t work for this anymore.”  They say, “Well, that’s all we’re going pay you.”  
Arrangements are dissolved because one side or the other doesn’t like the agreement anymore.

SENATOR COX:  I understand.  And when a person comes into your shop, I just need to know for…

MR. CROZAT:  Certainly.  Anything you want to ask me.

SENATOR COX:  When they come into your shop, do you say, “By the way, I do not have an agreement with XYZ Company, which is one of the 12, and my rate may or may not be higher than the insurance company,” is there a notification on your part?

MR. CROZAT:  I have it posted right in my shop.  I ask them what the insurance company it is for, just for information.  If it’s one of my direct repair companies, I have certain people that write those sheets for those companies, therefore, I’ll get someone out there to help them.

SENATOR COX:  And just tell me whether or not you tell the customer that your bill may be higher than the insurance company pays you in the event that they’re not one of the 12.

MR. CROZAT:  Yes, I do.  Right here.

SENATOR COX:  That written statement, you give it to them.

MR. CROZAT:  I give it to them and then I have them sign it.

SENATOR COX:  And you have them sign it.

MR. CROZAT:  I make up an estimate, I say this is what it’s going to take to fix your car.  Now, if the insurance company should take part of it, they don’t want to pay….I’ve had insurance come on and say, “Mr. Crozat, you lassoed them.”  And Allen Woods, who is here, which I have hired, who used to be at the Bureau of Automobile Repair, and Moses Gomez, who is sitting in here, used to be the Bureau chief for fraud, who also works for me now, are working on these problems.  And what I’m trying to say is, we as a garage, do everything we can to inform everybody, this is what will happen; and if it does; sign it; we’ll call you and let you know what you’re options are.  That’s why we’ve gone to court so much.

As afraid as people are of going to court, they’re so angry.  We had one woman who has flown out from the Midwest twice who moved.  She’s been to court five times with State Farm, and they keep taking her back to court for $300.  Five times, and twice she’s flown out from the Midwest, which we paid her flight.
SENATOR COX:  You paid her flight to come out.  So with respect to the small claims, I want to understand, tell me what role you play with respect to the small claims.  Do you pay their filing fee?

MR. CROZAT:  We explain to the customer what her…

SENATOR COX:  Just explain it to me.

MR. CROZAT:  I’m trying to.  We explained to her what she can do.  It’s right here.  It’s very clear.  

SENATOR COX:  If you do small claims, do you, in fact, pay the filing fees?

MR. CROZAT:  I don’t know, as we sit here today.  I didn’t get some questions to answer that.  I don’t know if we do or not.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.

MR. CROZAT:  We assist them.  We tell them, “Look, you go in and tell them you’ve had…

SENATOR COX:  Do you send them with representation?  He’s trying to coach you, by the way…

MR. CROZAT:  I don’t need coaching at all.  Go ahead.  

SENATOR COX:  So do you send someone with them?

MR. CROZAT:  Of course we do.  They’re afraid.  They’re petrified.  Have you ever gone up in church and given a speech?  You can’t even open your mouth up.  They’re petrified.  I’ve got women 70-years-old in a wheelchair shaking in front of court, but they’re so mad, they’re willing to roll into court and say, “Why am I paying this out of my pocket?”

SENATOR COX:  I’m not suggesting you’re right or wrong.  All I’m trying to do is gather information.

MR. CROZAT:  The information, as we’ve said, if you want to pay the bill to us…

SENATOR COX:  So you, in fact, send someone with them?

MR. CROZAT:  Yes, we do.  Of course we do.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  All right.  And then, does the insurance company show up for the small claims action?

MR. CROZAT:  They do when they appeal it.  When they lose.  Sometimes a few of them, which I think mistakenly, appeal it, because it’s showing, like this here, they’re telling people they’re going to have to pay a certain amount and it’s $550, I read to you, when they do get sued for a pattern of action of telling their people they’re going to have to pay this, when, in fact, they don’t.  That’s fraud.  That’s why we do it.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  The next witness.

TODD BISHOP:  Hi.  Good morning, Senator Speier and Senator Cox.  My name is Todd Bishop.  I own Dibble’s Collision Works in Sonoma County.  I’m also the president of the Redwood Empire Chapter of the Auto Body Association.

I’d also like to start by saying that there are an awful lot of good shops out there, or a lot of….excuse me.  A little bit nervous today.

CHAIR SPEIER:  That’s okay.

MR. BISHOP:  I’d just like to start by saying there are some bad shops out there that do give us the appearance of an industry that has a bad reputation, but there’s also some very good insurance companies out there, as well.

What I'd like to do first, there’s so many things to cover.  Mr. Cignarle stated that the…

CHAIR SPEIER:  Let me interrupt you for a moment.  Let’s not rehash old grounds.  So, let’s have you speak to issues that haven’t been addressed.

MR. BISHOP:  Okay.  All right.  I have something to pass out.  On page 2, this handout here, this was given to you last year at one of the meetings that we had with the insurance companies.  And you actually read this out to the group of people that were here that day.  The very top of this is the Department of Insurance reply on this.  And at the very bottom, it says, In this complaint it has also been alleged that the insurer improperly influenced the claimant’s decision with regards to the selection of a repair facility.  A finding on this issue is contingent upon a resolution of a question of fact.  In this case, there is a dispute as to whether the claimant had already chosen a repair facility prior to the recommendation.
Now, her statement was sent along with this complaint.  And if you read her statement, the statement clearly says that she wanted to bring her car to Dibble’s Auto Body before anybody mentioned something at the insurance company.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you’re saying that the Insurance Department didn’t read her statement well enough?

MR. BISHOP:  They didn’t read her statement, let alone, I included her phone number with it; I called her after I received this.  Nobody from the Department of Insurance ever even contacted her to find out what really happened.  Because the only two people that know what happened on the telephone is the two parties that were on either end of the phone.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, let’s ask Mr. Cignarle.  So an investigation was conducted.  Who did you talk to?

MR. CIGNARLE:  I’m sorry, the question?

CHAIR SPEIER:  It states that you conducted an investigation.  If you didn’t talk to the claimant, who did you talk to?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Our policy is, in every complaint received, whether it comes from the consumer or the body shop, most of these company body shops, we will send a letter to….if the body shop files the complaint, we’ll send in a letter to the body shop, as well as the consumer, in every single case, advising that the body shop has made an allegation that these are the allegations that were made, and if they would please present us with their side of the story and/or any other documentation they feel is important for us to review in making our determination on the case.  The great majority obviously do not contact us, of consumers that is.  They do not respond to us.  The mere fact that an affidavit or a statement by the customer is in the request for assistance sent to us by the body shop, is not enough for us to act on that complaint in terms of making a final decision of whether a violation has occurred.  We must contact that consumer.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I understand that.  But basically, all this letter, from the department says, is that they have a labor survey, therefore they can charge the rate they’ve charged.  You haven’t addressed the issue of steerage here, so you haven’t never really talked to the consumer about whether or not they were redirected, and that’s…

MR. CIGNARLE:  Correct.  We ask them, “Have you been redirected?  Was it unfair?”  That is in our letter to these consumers.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  But you evidently never even talked to this person.  

MR. CIGNARLE:  We send them a letter.

CHAIR SPEIER:  You send them a letter.  So if they don’t respond to the letter, then…

MR. CIGNARLE:  Then it is ultimately a lack of information.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So it’s kind of a paper investigation that goes on.  It’s actually…

MR. CIGNARLE:  A case moves as fast and as far as the evidence leads us.  And in many of the cases presented by the body shops, the allegations that they make, even if true, in our opinion, do not amount to illegal steering or a violation of the labor rate statute.  As I suggested before, the posted labor rate is the great majority of the complaints.  The fact that insurance companies state that they’ll warrant the repairs if you do it in one of our shops, we won’t do it if you go to another shop, that is required by the statute.  As well, we won’t do an inspection if you go to one our shops; we don’t need to.  But if you do go to one of our shops, we need to do an inspection and it might take three to five, or ten days to do an inspection.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Are we better off to just have the consumer go out and get three estimates; go back to that system?  Is that where we should go on this?

MR. CIGNARLE:  We don’t oppose that.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We don’t make the law, Senator.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, wait a minute.  Mr. Commissioner, you make law all the time—let’s be real clear about that.  You make law all the time.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We write regulations based….no, we write regulations.  There’s quite a difference.  We are left to interpret.

SENATOR COX:  Let’s take a vote.  I vote you do.  Two to one, sir.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And the other part of this, if…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If you believe the law should be changed, we’d be happy to work with you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, Mr. Commissioner, what do you believe?  I mean, you’ve got all of these complaints here.  There, in my view, appears to be a pattern of practice.  I mean, you come before the Legislature all the time and propose bills.  If you think this should be changed, you can also propose it.  I’m just trying to make people whole here.  And if we’re better served by having them go out and get three estimates, you know, let’s do it that way.  But to be able to tell them on the one hand that they go where they want to go, and then when they go where they want to go, they’re told, “Oops, you know, we’re not going to pay what the charges are.”  I mean, I think that’s a total affront to the consumer.  They have this insurance policy; they expect that they…
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Introduce a bill and we’d be happy to work with you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  It’s not about introducing a bill.  

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  What is it?

CHAIR SPEIER:  I think it’s your job here, we’re talking about.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We have investigated every one of these complaints.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And you think that all of these complaints are without merit.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I know that almost every one of these complaints came from four body shops.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I know, but what difference does it make if it came from four….these are four body shops that have the guts to speak up where others don’t because they’re afraid they’re going to lose business.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s also not the case.  However, these complaints have come from four body shops.  We’ve investigated all of these complaints.  We’re taking action on three insurance companies, which you’ve already heard about.  We’re enforcing the law as it is written and as the regulations have interpreted the law.  Now if you believe, or this committee believes, that the law should be changed, we’d be delighted to work with you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Do you believe the law should be changed, Mr. Commissioner?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m not prepared at this time to answer that question.  If you’d like us to give you a written analysis of where we are, we would be happy to do so.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Why don’t you do that for us.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We will do so.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Would you like to complete your comments, please?

MR. BISHOP:  Yeah.  Just on this one little incidence I’d like to add that after receiving the response letter from the Department of Insurance, I was so upset, not only did I call the customer to see if she was ever contacted, but I contacted the Department of Insurance and I was advised by a Mr. Patrick Campbell that a decision that had been handed down from Mr. Cignarle that the department’s decision is, when they have a complaint they request the file from the insurance company.  And as long as the insurance company’s file does not have any documentation that would show any steering, then the department’s decision is that no steering ever existed, period.

CHAIR SPEIER:  That’s a conversation.

MR. BISHOP:  That’s a conversation.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  That’s not something that was written on Department of Insurance stationary?

MR. BISHOP:  That’s correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Anything further?

MR. BISHOP:  Yes, I do.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Very quickly because we need to move on.

MR. BISHOP:  I’ll be real quick.  I'd like to add that this actually came from me on the $350 cap, and this was just….I went into business in June 1995.  This, ten years ago, my paint materials were capped at $350.  It’s still happening today.  

Paint materials, the liquids, is a petroleum based product, okay.  We just received notification that after Hurricane Katrina, our prices were going up 25 percent.  Our prices on a yearly basis since 1995, have went up 10 and 15 percent, but we’re still having a $350 cap on materials.

I have another little handout, and this is the last subject, pretty much.  And this has to do with the labor rate surveys.

And Allstate Insurance Company:  Now they were in trouble with the Department of Insurance in 2004.  And apparently they had some issues with using their DRN labor rates to set the labor rates of shops.  Now, on pages 3 and 4 of this, you’re going to see Allstate’s actual labor rate survey, which Allstate contends they did it with the help of the Department of Insurance.  You’re going to notice that there’s 13 shops listed, okay.  And by the way, there are a couple of these shops that are on here that Allstate does have direct repair programs.  

On the next page, you’re going to see the documentation of Allstate’s market survey.  And at the bottom it says, It has been determined that the data gathered, the prevailing per hour labor rate for the above market area is $74 body, and it goes on.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, $74 wasn’t even listed on any of this.
MR. BISHOP:  You’ve got it.  I wrote the phone numbers down.  I called every single shop.  Not one shop had a $74 an hour labor rate, okay.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, we’re they giving you the posted rate?

MR. BISHOP:  Yes, they were giving me the posted rate when I called.  And furthermore, if you add up all the 13 shops posted rate, okay, and then you divide it by 13, you come out with $82.67, I believe it is.  So, this thing is so far off base, it’s ridiculous.

This particular company, we went to small claims court just a month ago.  The consumer had taken Allstate to small claims.  There’s about $1,700 left on the table after materials, charges, in-labor rate differences.  And the very last thing, the consumer had requested that a judge hear the case instead of a pro Tem.  And Judge Cox, Conrad Cox, Sonoma County Superior Court, page 2 of his statement says, The court finds that the rates…
CHAIR SPEIER:  I’m sorry.  I’m not following you.

MR. BISHOP:  Page 3 of the handout.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.

MR. BISHOP:  Okay.  States, The court finds that the rates charged by Dibble’s were reasonable and proper in that the repairs that were made were necessary and proper, okay.  The judgment is entered in the favor of Matt Gruget and against Allstate Insurance in the sum of $1,996, okay.  It also says above that, Allstate made no showing that the hourly rate used by Dibble’s was excessive or out of the ordinary.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And this is a superior court….was a small claims judgment, however, wasn’t it?

MR. BISHOP:  Um hm.

SENATOR COX:  It was superior court.

MR. BISHOP:  Yes, superior court.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BISHOP:  Okay.  And then to show that steering is actually going on, I….this was just last week out of my store, as well.  It’s not stopping.  Geico Insurance, they….a lot of these companies are, right now, out of control.  There’s laws.  They’re not being followed.
Something I remember, back to the Allstate Insurance, the survey that was done by Allstate was given to the Department of Insurance over three months ago to their criminal investigator.  And still, nothing has been done.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.

SENATOR COX:  How many matters do you conduct on a monthly basis?  How many repairs on a monthly basis?

MR. BISHOP:  Today, currently, about 62 years ago when the steering became very intense, I was doing about 100 jobs a month, so it’s cost me right today about 40 jobs a month.

SENATOR COX:  And how many preferred providers do you have?

CHAIR SPEIER:  Direct repair programs.

MR. BISHOP:  Today we are representing four.

SENATOR COX:  Four.  Okay.  Thank you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  Anyone else here from auto body repair owners that want speak?  All right.  If you would all come forward, we’re going to give you five minutes each.  All right. 

Go ahead, sir.

JOHNNY WALKER:  My name is Johnny Walker, owner of PJ’s Auto Body Shop and Johnny Walker Performance Center of Sacramento.

Obviously, there’s a difference between the bill, the law, as far as the labor rate survey, the Department of Insurance, the way they understand it, the consumer, the customer, and the body shops.  And all the surveys that are done….I think I’m only in two of them out of ten of them that’s done….and all of the surveys have the direct repair shops on there when you look at them.  And Tony Cignarle said that they don’t do that direct repair shops on the survey.  They don’t think it’s fair to be able to put them on there and then to turnaround and to set a price for what the prevailing rate is.  Well, the direct repair shops are on those surveys.  And also on the surveys, there’s shops on there.  Shop A, B, and C, all the way around me that does not have any equipment, that has $3,000 in equipment, and I have $1 million.  I’ve been in business for 30 years.  And there’s several shops around me that have no equipment at all, and they’re on their survey.  And so is that accurate and fair and everything else?  I personally don’t think so, myself.  But at this point, I don’t really care about the labor rate survey, and what they’re going to do, and how much to charge and everything else.  
On all my complaints that I send in, every response that I get back, it responds back that we find no wrong doing in the insurance company.  They’ve done an accurate labor rate survey.  Well, I sent in a survey that says the adjuster asked me to commit fraud in front of the consumer.  Nothing about the labor rate survey.  The response back is, they did a labor rate survey.  I just got one back last week from Farmers.  Fourteen months ago, I sent it in.  And I got a response last week, it says Farmers done an accurate labor rate survey.  And my complaint was, the Farmers adjuster asked me to….was going to give me one hours instead of three hour dent; it was going to limit my crows and protection; no color sand and rub; no tint and match; limits all the repairs…

CHAIR SPEIER:  I don’t know what all that means, but…

MR. WALKER:  What they do is, they limit their repairs.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So no tint and match, it means you just put a stock color on the car?

MR. WALKER:  Yeah.  You take whatever you get in the can and you put it on there—don’t have your painter match it or take the time to match the color.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So your car will have two different colors, in effect, on the car?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.  There will be two different colors if you don’t spend the time to match the color.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Is that reasonable, Mr. Cignarle?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Absolutely not.

MR. WALKER:  On all my complaints, the insurance companies, when they come to my shop, they come out and they look at the car and try to write an estimate.  Some of them do five to six estimates on a car.  And they cannot get them right.  Ninety percent of the adjusters that are coming out there are not qualified to write an estimate on a car.  And they come out there and they tell me how to repair a car; how to fix it; and what they’re going pay me; and what I can charge.  
The labor rate is just a fifth of the issues that I have.  It’s them telling me how to repair the car and what they’re going to pay me.  They’re estimate will be $2,000; mine will be $10-.  When we’re done, it will be up to $8,000.  There’s $2,000 difference--$300 will be labor rate and the rest things that they don’t pay for because they can get it done at the direct repair shops.  
If you subpoenaed their call records, that’s the best thing in the world that can be done.  Or if you’d like me to bring 200 customers to Mr. Garamendi and Cignarle, I’d be happy to, to tell them what the insurance companies are telling my customers—“You cannot go to that shop because they’re not on our list.  They charge too much; you’ll have to pay the difference.”  
I have cars that are sitting for three weeks to a month before they’ll come out and look at them.  Anything and everything to inconvenience the customers.  
The only time they pay me is when we go to small claims court, the customer happens to be an attorney—writes a letter, or, I have a couple of cars in there now that I’m redoing from the direct repair shops.  Now, they’ll pay me.  I have a customer in there who has Triple A Insurance and they told her, “You cannot go to PJ’s Body Shop.  No matter what, you cannot go there,” so she didn’t go there.  She went to their preferred shop.  And now her car is unsafe to be on the road and unsafe for her to drive, so I’m going to be doing an estimate on it and redoing here car.  And now they agreed to pay me my labor rate and my procedure to repair the car.  
All they had to do is subpoena the car records, monitor my phone calls, and you can see what the adjusters are doing and how they practice.

SENATOR COX:  How many repairs a month?

MR. WALKER:  I do approximately 15.  From 80 to 15.  I’m 15 now.

SENATOR COX:  How many companies are you considered to be a…

MR. WALKER:  Zero.  None.

SENATOR COX:  Zero.  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

MR. WALKER:  When I was a direct repair shop, for 25 years, the first one in Sacramento and the longest one, after I filed my first complaint with the Department of Insurance, the insurance companies started blackballing me.  And I had three insurance companies I was a direct repair for, and I’m no longer a direct repair.  And I went from 21 employees to five.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Walker, do you believe that the reason why the department doesn’t get more complaints is because of the fear of blackballing?

MR. WALKER:  Absolutely.  I talked to my fellow body shop owners, and they’ll tell you.  If we all get into a room together, they’ll tell you that they will be blackballed and be cutoff tomorrow.  Insurance companies told me, Infinity has told me, if you challenge us, you will lose.  The last shop that challenged us, we put out of business.  Several insurance companies were telling me, you challenge us, you’ll lose.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Cignarle, do you believe that there’s truth to that?  Do you think these auto repair shops may, in fact, be blackballed?
MR. CIGNARLE:  Sure.  Absolutely, I believe that the fear is there that they will be blackballed.  And, I mean, to be perfectly honest, it happened to my father and he’s been a longtime body shop owner.  I’m very well aware of the concerns being brought up here.  And notwithstanding that, I mean, we look at what the evidence is presented to us, and we determine whether a violation has occurred or not, and that’s kind of where we are now.  We’re taking action on the cases that we are able to verify and prove and not taking action on the ones where the evidence either leads us….either dries up or leads us to suggest that the transactions were legitimate, or if there is a violation, we can take enforcement action.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  Next.

BRENT VANCE:  Hi.  I’m Brent Vance.  I’m vice president of G & C Auto Body.  
CHAIR SPEIER:  Since G & C has had a lot of time, let’s be very brief.

MR. VANCE:  I’ll be very brief.  I’m to address Senator Cox.  I am usually the one who goes with the consumer to small claims court and argue the labor rate issue or paint capping issue for the consumer, since they have no personal knowledge of that aspect of our business.

I have here the actual regulation regarding the labor rate survey.  And according to this, there’s no signing under penalty of perjury that this labor rate is fair and accurate.  There’s no enforcement.  There’s no verification.  All the Department of Insurance does, is take this and put it in a file cabinet and then when a consumer or shop wishes a copy of it, they provide a copy at a nominal fee.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Is that true, Mr. Cignarle?  Do you audit the labor rate surveys done by the insurance companies?

MR. CIGNARLE:  We don’t do as what was suggested.  What we do is, we get the surveys in; we examine the surveys to make sure that they do, in the four corners of that survey, are valid surveys according to the statute and/or the regulation.  And specifically when we do get complaints in, we will look at….we may drill down further into that survey if the allegation is that they use DRP rates in their survey.  They’re allowed to use DRP shops in their survey, just they can’t use that discounted rate in their survey.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But if in fact, some of these shops have virtually no equipment.  I mean, how would you know that?

MR. CIGNARLE:  There’s no provision that requires the insurance companies to use only high end shops.  I would assume that….there are currently 4,000 shops licensed with the Bureau of Automotive Repair.  I assume that they’re all following the law and are able to perform work on these vehicles in a workman like manner.  If a shop is not, and they are using the survey, then it’s something….for example, if they don’t have a frame machine and there’s frame time, then that frame time should be added.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Someone just put these pictures up.  Are these auto body shops that were on the actual surveys?  Have any of these…

MR. VANCE:  That is correct.  Now, State Farm has kind of a different twist on this.  They claim not to have a direct repair program, but a service first program, in which shops receive no referrals, however if you’re on their program, they will allow your customers to come to you.  They send out a letter to….this is their survey letter:  Please indicate your crisis charges for State Farm customers.  This information is intended to be confidential to State Farm.  I pulled their survey—90 percent of the shops on their survey are service first shops.  These are some of the other shops that are on their survey in which our shop is compared to and, you know, for these shops at $74 labor hour is probably very reasonable as put forth—very low overhead, no equipment…

CHAIR SPEIER:  Those shops don’t mean a lot to me.  Tell me what’s good, bad, or indifferent about those shops.

MR. VANCE:  Well, if you see the top one, this top picture is a homemade spray booth.  Obviously this booth has been grandfathered in through building codes, but it is not up to the standards that it takes when I have to install a new spray booth, since I have five booths.  And I have to go through the fire codes, a qualified electrician to wire it.  I’ll spend like, $50-, $60,000 for the booth and another $60,000 to get it licensed and installed.

You see the picture down below there, that is the gentleman’s booth is the five-gallon paint can with the fan sitting on it—is his spray booth.  And then you see the other shops there.  They’re office is a little trailer sitting on the property and has the word “duck” on the door threshold because it’s very low and if you’re tall, you have to duck to get in.  These shops are what State Farm uses to set the prevailing labor rate in our area, is what these shops are.

And I feel that the labor rate survey shouldn’t be to set a specific rate, but a range of rates.  You have your shops that can work on the ’57 Chevy because they have the technology for that, and then you have the vehicles, the 2005, 2006 vehicles, where I need three dimensional computer lazar measuring systems, I have to have the scan tools…
CHAIR SPEIER:  I understand.  All right.  Thank you.  Any last words?

MR. VANCE:  Yeah.  In small claims court, I was just there last week, for a State Farm case, and I explained to the judge that this actually is not a survey, but a commercial agreement with these shops submitting this information.  And she agreed with me.  State Farm argued, “No, no.  We have a survey.”  But the judge said, “But your survey is skewed.  You asked the wrong question.  You didn’t ask, what is your labor rate?  You asked, what will you do State Farms work for?  Therefore, creating an informal commercial agreement with these shops.”

CHAIR SPEIER:  And was State Farm there representing…

MR. VANCE:  Yes.  There was an attorney for State Farm sitting in the back.  There was a claims supervisor from Rohnert Park.  An adjuster from an area….we were doing this in Marin.  And they actually were there arguing for State Farm.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And the judge ruled?

MR. VANCE:  Which surprised me, the judge ruled right then and there for the consumer, saying, “You will pay this consumer the money that she put out of her pocket to get her car repaired.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And how much was that?

MR. VANCE:  It was $1,800.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Senator Cox.

SENATOR COX:  Let me just ask a question.  I didn’t ask the owner of the firm, but perhaps you know.  But he indicated you do about 600 repairs a month and you have 12 direct providers.  How many of those 600 are, in fact, with direct providers, do you know?

MR. VANCE:  It would be hard to guess.  About half.

SENATOR COX:  Fifty percent.  Okay. 

MR. VANCE:  And we do charge our off the street rate to every consumer or insurance company that we do not have a direct repair for.  I don’t know where…

SENATOR COX:  Tell us what you mean by that.

MR. VANCE:  Well, as Cignarle was saying, that shops don’t necessarily charge their shop rate, but who’s telling Cignarle that we’re not charging our shop rate.

SENATOR COX:  You need to address this.
MR. VANCE:  Exactly.  So, who is saying they’re not charging their shop rate?  I charge my shop rate.  Every shop I know of, charges their shop rate when they don’t have a contractual agreement with an insurance company.

SENATOR COX:  And that’s the rate you’ve posted/

MR. VANCE:  That’s the rate we’ve posted.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I think, consumer protection would suggest that the rates you post is the rate you charge.

MR. VANCE:  Exactly.  And our rate is not higher than other prominent shops in our area.  We’re actually lower right now.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I mean, you go to a hotel and they always have what they all the rack rate, right.  And they have relationships with other entities that then give them a different rate.

MR. VANCE:  Just one quick comment on the labor rates.  The dealers in our area charge about $140 an hour.  Body shops are about $90, so you have a $50 difference.  An independent mechanical garage charges between $120 and $100 an hour.  Now when we do body work we’re not only just straightening fenders, but we’re doing mechanical work also.  So my body men have to have the tools for doing body work and the tools for doing mechanical work.  Why is it that body labor rates are so far below the other service industries anywhere?  I mean, the guy who fixes our computer comes in with a little briefcase of software, he’s $140 an hour.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  I don’t think we can get into that issue today.

MR. VANCE:  Exactly.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  Next.

JAMES BOYLE:  Thank you very much for having us here, Senators and everyone here, to address our industry’s issues.  My name is James Boyle, and I’m the owner of Regal Collision Repair in Vallejo, California.  And I’m also the president of the East Bay Chapter of California Auto Body Association.  
And I’m here to tell you I’m one of those business owners in the collision repair industry that has not had the guts to get a consumer to file a complaint against their insurance company just because the relationship that we need to maintain with these insurance companies is such that we can’t go in and fight them.  And this is a tough enough issue in itself to have had your car in a major collision, or even a minor one, and then go through these processes that you have to go through, and then in the end, to quibble over $2, or $3, or $5 an hour.  They just don’t want that.  It’s just easier for them to go to one of the shops that will agree to do the work for the insurance company’s rate.  

So, I’m embarrassed to say, I’ve never filed a complaint.  Because I can’t file a complaint.  It has to be the consumer.  

I think Mr. Garamendi’s office will get quite a bit more response to this issue of steering and labor rate if he could hear from the industry.  But he has to hear from the consumer.  Consumers don’t want to go through that.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  Next.

SENATOR COX:  How many repairs?

MR. BOYLE:  My business does about 45 repairs a month.

SENATOR COX:  And how many are with the direct…

MR. BOYLE:  And we have two direct repair relationships.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  But how many of the 45 come from the direct repairs?

MR. BOYLE:  Thirty-three percent of my business is customer pay, and we do charge our posted labor rate.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So without your direct repair program you would be hurting?

MR. BOYLE:  I would absolutely be hurt.  This is quite a risk for me to get on the microphone and say that I would like a true assessment.  We’re business people.  We learned sometime ago that the proper way to set your rate is to find out what your break even point is—what your cost of goods sold; your cost of payroll; and that, your rent, all of those things that factor how a business should set a rate, and we’re not allowed to do that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  The next witness.

BLAKE ANDROS:  Hello.  My name is Blake Andros.  I own Blake’s Auto Body.  I have four stores.  We do over 600 repairs a month.  And with the kind of volume I do, I guess there’s some luxury in volume.

I’ve listened to everybody here.  I haven’t heard anybody speaking any untruths.  But, I think I better ask you if you have any questions for me, because you didn’t get the answers to some of your questions today.  I’d like to answer them.

SENATOR COX:  How many direct provider…

MR. ANDROS:  Fifteen.

SENATOR COX:  So you do 15.  And how much of your business is done with the 15?  

MR. ANDROS:  Ninety percent.

SENATOR COX:  Ninety percent.

MR. ANDROS:  You mentioned balance.  The people behind us have to balance out the insurance companies.  They have to balance out repair costs.

The reason why we’re at 90 bucks an hour posted rate and mechanics shops earn a buck-40 is because the insurance companies control us.  Okay, most mechanics shops, independents, are three, four, five people shops.  Dealerships don’t run as many men as I do.  I run 90 employees.
CHAIR SPEIER:  And you have a posted rate of $90?

MR. ANDROS:  My posted labor rate is $88 right now.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Your posted labor rate is $88, and the direct repair programs that you are with are paying you what?

MR. ANDROS:  And average of $72.  I met with an insurance company last Thursday, and we discontinued our relationship because they allowed me a $64 labor rate increase from $62.  I can’t work for $64 an hour in the town of Novato in Marin County.  I don’t make any money.  They don’t care.  We give them discounts on paint, material, supplies, we give them discount on parts—typically 10 percent.  Once again, I keep my mouth shut because I do $12 million of volume a year.  There’s a luxury in that.  And I’ve been in business, I started my 26th year Tuesday last week.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So what do you think the answer is?

MR. ANDROS:  Balance.  It’s hard.  Very few of us, the top 20 percent, spend…

CHAIR SPEIER:  No.  We’ve been dealing about this issue from the consumer’s perspective.  

MR. ANDROS:  That’s a hard question.  Balance.  What’s really the answer?

One of the problems that Mr. Crozat has, and we’re enemies.  We are business enemies.  I met him for the first time today.  We compete in every market.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, you’ve been very cordial to each other.  No fist fights.

MR. ANDROS:  We don’t dislike each other, but we’re business enemies.  Geico puts all their work into my shops.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Obviously, yeah.

MR. ANDROS:  Obviously.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  We saw that today.

MR. ANDROS:  It’s a touchy subject, okay.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  It’s going to be more touchy, I think.

MR. ANDROS:  It’s funny how, if I’m considered in the top 20 percentile in the United States for body shop owners, how I never get a call from the Department of Insurance.  Maybe they should call and ask me some questions.  Maybe I can help everybody.  But, it’s scary.  I don’t know what to do.  What’s the answer?  Well, that’s what we’re here for—trying to find it.

I have a posted labor rate, but when they do the surveys, the posted labor rate never shows.  It never pops up.
SENATOR COX:  What’s your posted labor rate?

MR. ANDROS:  Eighty-eight.  And I stretch from Marin County, San Rafael, Novato, Rohnert Park, to Santa Rosa.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Do you think maybe the department should do the labor studies instead of the insurance companies?

MR. ANDROS:  It would be honest then.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Yeah.  It makes a lot of sense to me.  What do you think about that, Mr. Cignarle?

MR. CIGNARLE:  Well, our opinion on that is that just as the Department of Insurance is responsible to do data calls with its licensees, insurance companies, agents, brokers, etc., we believe that the entity that regulates body shops is more appropriate, the Bureau of Automotive Repair, to do data calls with their licensees, the body shops.

MR. ANDROS:  I believe Mr. Crozat actually recommended that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But with all due respect, you’re relying on this labor survey to make decisions whether or not there’s been steerage, or whether or not there is reasonable rate being charged, and whether or not a consumer is going to make up the difference.  So you’re relying on that.  So regardless of whether it seems like the regulator of auto body shops should do it, it’s a measurement that you’re relying on and you’re taking…
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Senator, they, the body shops, are licensed by another agency, and if they present the information to us, yes, we will rely on them.

CHAIR SPEIER:  No, but the insurance companies are doing a labor survey.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, I understand.  But your question was, should we do it?  And we’re saying, no, I don’t believe we should do it.  It should be done by the Bureau of Automotive Repair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you do agree that maybe we shouldn’t have the insurance companies doing it?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m sorry, I couldn’t hear your question.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Do you then agree that maybe the insurance company should not be doing the labor surveys?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  There’s a lot of questions that have been raised about the labor survey.  If the Legislature wants somebody else to do it, then fine, do it.  I believe the best place to have it done is with the Bureau of Automotive Repair.  If you want to introduce a bill that provides for us to do it, then, we’ll do it.  But I give you my opinion, it’s best done by the Bureau of Automotive Repair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I guess I don’t want to beat this to death, I just think that if it’s flawed and you’re relying on it…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Senator, I just gave you my answer.  You asked me who should do it—the Bureau of Automotive Repair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Okay.  Thank you.  One last comment?  Yes.

MR. ANDROS:  Probably what’s really bringing all this up is our overhead just went up skyrocketing—rents, PG&E bill.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Paint?  Did paint go up for you?
MR. ANDROS:  Oh, yeah.  PG&E, I had one shop, $6,000 last month for PG&E.  So we’re struggling.  You know, all my employees want more money.  Everybody needs more money.  So, typically, a restaurant might raise their prices.  People come in or they don’t.  We are not allowed to raise our prices.  That’s the real problem.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Say that again.

MR. ANDROS:  We are not allowed to raise our prices.  How can I raise my price?  I can’t.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  If this is someone who is in direct competition with Mr. Crozat, he’s the one who gets all of Geicos’ business and he just said, “I can’t raise my prices.”  It’s fixed.  

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Change the law.

MR. ANDROS:  Bingo.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Change the law.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I can only work within the laws that this Legislature is giving us.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, I recognize that.  And you have been very…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  And I’ve given you one thing.  Take it to the Bureau of Automotive Repair.  Let them set the labor rates.  Let those people do the studies.  And if the bill comes out of this Legislature that the Department of Insurance should do it, I can assure you that the Department of Insurance will do the very best it can to set the rates.  But at the moment, the law is the law.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  The next witness, please.  Thank you, sir.
TODD BALLENGER:  Senators, Todd Ballenger.  I’m the manager/part owner of Anthony’s Auto Crafts in San Rafael.  I’ve been a manager there, owner, for 19 years.  And what you’ve heard here today is true.  It’s not just a G & C issue.  It is multiple shops.  It’s every shop that I’m familiar with in my area.  

Again, the labor rate survey, things were different probably three, four, or five years ago, I know, when the bill passed.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Sir, can you please speak into the microphone.

MR. BALLENGER:  Yeah.  I know when the bill passed about three or four years ago, I had an insurance company, Allstate, approach me and they had been paying my door rate; my labor rate, which was $88 an hour now, then it was probably about $85 an hour.  And they said…

CHAIR SPEIER:  Five dollars less an hour.

MR. BALLENGER:  Yes.  So they said, “There’s going to be a problem with your estimate.  We’re going to adjust the labor rate to $75 an hour,” $10 an hour off.  I said, “Well, I don’t understand.”  “Well, there’s been survey done,” I could tell by the look.  There were two supervisors out.  I could tell by their look that something had changed; somebody found a loophole.  And they said, “This is what’s going to happen.  We’re going to do this.  We know this is going to become an issue in the future, but for now, we’re going to do this.  There’s nothing you can do about it.  You’re can accept the $75 an hour.”  Now, that was one company.  I can tell you in the last three years, I’ve had multiple companies jump on the same bandwagon and all start to dictate my labor rates.  
So, I’ve just of late, where I tried to charge them paint materials.  They explained to me, that no, that was part of my overhead.  That shouldn’t go in paint materials.  And I said, “Well, wait a minute.  How can I increase and cover my overhead, my labor rate is being controlled by you?  You’ve capped my labor rate.  
So, this is absolutely true.  We’re a completely regulated industry as of….well, forever, but more so now than we’ve ever been.  

We have a lot of horsepower at our shop.  We do 200 collision repairs a month.  We do premiere cars.  Our clients are able to pay the difference, and many times pay the difference and don’t fight this.  I made a couple of complaints initially with the Department of Insurance on the internet, when it came available, nothing ever came about it.  I find it hard to believe that there’s only four shops that have complained.  I could make 20, 30, or 40 complaints tomorrow if I thought they were going somewhere.

So the survey…
CHAIR SPEIER:  You never got a response back from the department?

MR. BALLENGER:  No.  No.

CHAIR SPEIER:  No letter?

MR. BALLENGER:  This is on the internet.  When that first came available on the internet and I was informed by, I’m not sure who.  I don’t recall.  But I went ahead and made that complaint and nothing ever came of it.  

Now, I’ve got three cars in my shop right now that people are going to pay upwards of $1,500 out of their own pocket.  One of them is an attorney and says they want to take this up further.  But I can tell you, is this happens day in and day out.  I can never increase my costs.  If this survey is going to actually work, what are the parameters?  What are the limitations?  When is it going to be readjusted?  When are we going to have an outside, non-bias force come in and say, “Okay, insurance companies, now it’s time for you to reevaluate the labor rate.”

SENATOR COX:  So how many agreements do you have?  You said 200…

MR. BALLENGER:  I have one, and I have one with State Farm which is technically not a direct repair.  It’s just a contract saying that I have equipment to repair cars properly.

SENATOR COX:  So you’ve got one and you do 200 repairs a month.  How much comes from State Farm?

MR. BALLENGER:  State Farm is a small percentage; maybe five to seven percent.  But Triple A is a company that I do business with and it’s probably 25 percent of my work comes from them.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Is that a direct repair program arrangement?

MR. BALLENGER:  That’s the only one I really truly have that’s contractual, yes.

SENATOR COX:  So it’s 25 percent?
MR. BALLENGER:  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  So that’s 50.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, you were told that you couldn’t charge the paint; is that what you said?

MR. BALLENGER:  The paint materials now, yes.  I’m told that it’s going to be capped.  I have to show billing, and that changes weekly, I’ve got to tell you as of late.  I now have a program that will allow me to show a bill that basically will dictate how much; what you’re doing to the car; and it will dictate a dollar amount.  That worked for a short time.  Now they’re telling me, “No, we want actual receipts from your paint supplier,” because they know that’s impossible.  
We purchase right now, $350,000 a year in paint materials.  I do it in bulk purchases.  I do it in $4,000 purchases a week.  And so, there’s no way for me to separate one car….I mean, I can do it.  I’ve done it in the past to fight this, where I’ve actually purchased paint materials specifically for that car, but obviously that’s going to increase the cost on those paint materials for that car, increase the cost to the consumer, to the insurance company, to everybody.  So, there’s no out for me.  I’m not in control of what I charge.  That’s been totally dictated now. 

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BALLENGER:  Thank you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The next witness.
SHEILA WALKER:  I’ve known this gentleman since he was eight years old.  My husband actually taught him to paint a little bit.  He worked for his dad before he went into business.  To sit here 26 years later and hear about surveys, unethical practices…

SENATOR COX:  And your name is?

MS. WALKER:  Sheila Walker from PJ’s Auto Body Shop in North Highlands.  I own the property there.  And if I didn’t, I’d be out of business because they’ve come to us after we decided we wouldn’t conform, be dictated, controlled, and follow by the rules, that they’d put us out of business.  

Well, when my husband and I started, I was 20, he was 23, and we kind of were rebellious people and didn’t like taking orders from people, so that’s why we went into business.  

Well, we didn’t want to be dictated and controlled, but they did prove to us they will put us out of business because we’re not following by the rules.

Well, my husband and I have been part of your bill from the beginning in representing steering.  It’s all about steering.  It’s all about control.  
Four thousand shops, how many millions of people are in the state of California speeding into 4,000 shops when really about 20 percent are fixing those cars correctly?  Why?  Because they’re here today to finally say, after two-and-a-half years, they’re going to go broke because they’re controlled.

My husband and I didn’t want to be controlled.  So to downsize it cost me a half a million dollars, I’m not making any money, but I’m happy.  Because I’ve got another plan.  My plan is, I’m going to retire as a landlord.  That was my plan.  That’s why I owned six acres, 37,000 square feet, and I go home at 5:00 every day.  
I work because I want to and choose to now.  I can walk away and retire today with about $30,000 a month income, so I don’t need to work.  I’m here today, to tell you, that if you work real hard, do things right, and do what you’re supposed to do, which is follow the law.

Insurance companies, we all know, contribute a lot of money to a lot of people.  We’re not dumb.  We were mentored by them.  We walked away, when they wanted us to be crooked, do things unethical, and then they come up with labor surveys.  
Labor surveys have been around since….I can remember State Farm coming out to my business and say, “John, fill this out.  Tell us what you’re charging.”  

Direct repairs have been around about 15 years.  We were one of the first ones to be on that program because you had to be an elite group of people; you had to have the best equipment; you had to have the best reputation; they wanted owner occupied; they want to see your P & Ls; and they didn’t give you written contracts then.  They believed in what you were doing.  They changed because they want to control our industry like they do other industries.  
And what happened is, they were sold on something to tell them, “We’re going to give you all you can handle.  We’ll make you more money.  You can retire in five years.  You just do what we tell you to do.”  They were sold on something—they had to sell themselves, their ethics, their families, their beliefs, and the actual repairs that they do on cars in order to pay their overhead.  It’s finally come to a head.

Thank you for making the Anti-Steering bill law, Jackie.  Because as woman to woman, you done something for me that nobody hasn’t done in 26 years.  And the reason why, is because you know the consumer is not being treated fairly.  And the reason they’re not, is because the insurance companies control our policies.  They’d change those if they could get that done.  
But the reality is, our Department of Insurance is hand tied between the insurance companies and the consumer.  They tell us as business that we have right to complain, but they tell us then that we don’t have a right to complain when we do.  

The reality is, what happened to free enterprise in this country?  If I post a rate, you say it’s not a posted rate.  But what is the prevailing rate?  But what is the DRP rate?  The rate is what’s in the Mitchell Manual, ADP and software companies it stipulates how the car is supposed to be repaired back to the condition it was new.  That’s what we charge for.  They went in and masterminded their plan to figure out how they don’t have to pay for it because they can cut corners, change the software, do everything.  The reason why is because, they like their bonuses, and believe me, they work real hard for them.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MS. WALKER:  Thank you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The next witness.

LEE GAMBOA:  My name is Lee Gamboa, from Gamboa’s Body & Frame.  We have three shops in the area.  We do about $12 million a year in business.  We employ 84 people.  

I have got three things that I would like to address, which they’ve already gone over and over, but the labor rate survey being one.  How can Allstate come up with $62 an hour and State Farm come up with $70 an hour in the same geographic area?  I believe that the information to use on the surveys that are gathered are phony.  They’re construed to come up to look the way the insurance want them to come up to.

Having one of the largest shops in probably Northern California, I’ve never once been asked what my labor rate was by an insurer.  You would think they would want to talk to the owner/operator of the business, but they don’t, other than State Farm in which they send an annual survey.  

And I’ve also had insurance adjusters come in and say they’ve had a survey when they do not, because I know who has a survey.  I’ve been up on this, and I follow it, and I’m involved with our association.  And they just lie so they can get the labor rate, or pay the labor rate that they want to pay.  
And the steering issue, I don’t think there’s a person in this room that doesn’t work for an insurance company that knows what the extent of the steering is because those people never come to our door.  They never make it to the shop because they’re first point of contact is their insurance company.

And every case….I know a lot of people in this town.  My mother, my general manager’s wife, my neighbor, my best friends I’ve been best friends with since high school, they’ve all been steered.  And those are the ones who will talk to you about it.  The rest of them never show up. 

My general manger’s wife had her car broken into and when she called Farmers Insurance, they told her she couldn’t come to Gamboa’s.  And when she asked why, they said, “Well, they can’t get to you.  They’re so busy.  They may not be able to even look at your car for six weeks.”  And when she said that she thinks she’ll be able to get in because she’s married to the general manager, then they started doing a little bit of back pedaling.

But, I haven’t heard anything untrue from any of the shop owners here.  And I hate to say this, but you know I thought….in January 01 of ’04, I took the legal recourse.  I’d never made any waves before that.  I started filing the complaints as we were allowed to do so.  And I got to the point where I was getting a form letter.  The same letter from every one.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  You filed complaints with the Department of Insurance?

MR. GAMBOA:  With the Department of Insurance.  And then I started saying, okay, I’m not going to shotgun them and give them a complaint for every case.  So I didn’t pay my labor rate or capped materials.  I’m just going to focus on steering.  And I’m not going to just focus on steering, I’m going to focus on the ones that are just over the top—cut and dry case.  And have not had one followed…one action taken.  

I’ve even had a customer, we went to the same gym and I ran into him.  And I said, “I remember you.  Mr. Hannon.  You’re the one who sent me the note about the steering.”  And he said, “Yeah.  Yeah, I did.”  He said, “You know, that adjuster told me that Gamboa’s Body & Frame is not knowledgeable in repairing collision damaged vehicles.”  I’m second generation.  We’ve been in this town since 1972.  We’re pretty knowledgeable at repairing collision damaged vehicles.  And there’s numerous cases like that.  I’ve included some of them in a binder that I presented to Mr. Steffen. 

And I’m done.  I’m not making anymore complaints, because they don’t get handled.  I’m hesitant to be here because our business has been retaliated against for taking legal recourse.  We’re $1.2 million down over last year and the year before.  So it has affected our business.  We’ve had to lay employees off.  We’ve had to cap insurance for medical coverage.  We’ve cut down to almost a skeleton crew.  We’ve had to layoff mid-management layers.  We’ve had to get rid of people in the office.  You know, if someone calls in sick, it’s a disaster almost because we don’t have anyone to cover for it.  And we’ve just been bad-mouthed by the insurance company.  
So I’m done with it.  I won’t be filing anymore complaints.  I won’t be talking to Mr. Cignarle.  I’ve tried to get a hold of him and written him letter personally.  I do not want to battle with any insurance companies.  But I’ve got 84 people that count on me to do the right thing and keep the business out of harms way so they can get a paycheck every week and feed their kids.  
And I won’t be making anymore complaints because it’s hurt our business.  And I was real hesitant to come here today, because I’m pretty sure that there may be some impact on my speaking and identifying myself.

SENATOR COX:  How many repairs a month?

MR. GAMBOA:  Four to 500.

SENATOR COX:  And how many direct repair programs do you have?

MR. GAMBOA:  One.

SENATOR COX:  So you only have one now.  And so you’re getting….how many does that one provide you with then?

MR. GAMBOA:  Probably about $200,000 worth of business a month.
SENATOR COX:  I’m really looking for…

MR. GAMBOA:  Amount of vehicles?  That would be about 85.

SENATOR COX:  Eighty-five percent?

MR. GAMBOA:  No.  Eighty-five vehicles.

SENATOR COX:  Eighty-five vehicles, I see.  Okay.  So roughly 20 percent give or take some.

MR. GAMBOA:  Give or take.  That’s a close number.

SENATOR COX:  Thank you.

MS. WALKER:  I’d like to make one last comment.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes.

MS. WALKER:  The only reason I came here today was because I’m hoping that we can still focus on the steering because these surveys are being used to control.  
Another thing, they’ve got you guys all sidetracked over here worrying about surveys, when it’s all about steering.  Controlling you and steering you and dictating to you.  And the Department of Insurance has to come up with a better way to investigate not only the surveys, but let’s do subpoena one or two of these insurance companies.  And I would love them to do it on my phone, because every customer is steered away.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you very much.  All right, we’re going to take a five minute break and then we will return.  Thank you.

Allen Wood is here, formerly with the Bureau of Automotive Repair—now retired.  He has been working in conjunction with Mr. Crozat.  But I do think he has an independent perspective, having worked, how many years with the Bureau of Automotive Repair?
ALLEN WOOD:  Thirty-three years.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Thirty-three years.  So if you would like to briefly give us your comments.

MR. WOOD:  Madam Chair, Senator Cox, I want to thank you for allowing me to be here today.  What we obviously have here, is a process that’s basically out of control, and I think that’s pretty obvious.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Can you speak into the microphone?

MR. WOOD:  What we have is a process that’s basically out of control in the three areas that we discussed today.  I think it’s highly commendable, and I think it should be noted, that for these shops to come forward is just a tremendous undertaking on their part.  The issue of retaliation and the consequences are serious.  And for them to come forward, it’s a first.  So, I think if nothing else, your hearing has been successful and I would commend you on at least allowing them the opportunity.  And I would hope that when they leave, that what they’ve presented, that there isn’t retaliation or anything goes any further than that.  I mean, they’re speaking their peace and they’ve really got some sincere issues.

Along the lines of the three issues that have been discussed today, I think the issues of the paint capping is pretty obvious and straightforward and I don’t want to take any time on that.  
But, when it comes to steering, it’s an issue that, I don’t think that any one of these shop owners that came here today isn’t willing to go out and compete for the customer.  And I think the same thing applies to the insurer.  I don’t think any one of them would say that if this insurance company, if the customer hasn’t chosen a shop, that the insurer shouldn’t be able to help them make that decision.  But unfortunately, it’s been taken one step further.  And there has to be….it’s the old adage, “what gets measured, gets done.”  There has to be some regulatory effort in this area so that if a customer indicates that they’ve made a determination as to who they want to have their car repaired, that those statements that are used should be stopped at that point and allow the marketplace then to control itself and compete for these people and these customers, instead of steering them away.  

Some of the very things that the insurers are required to do are the things that they’re using to steer the customers away.  To say that an adjuster can’t come out for a week is a form of steering.  There’s just a litany of statements that go on, and one can lead to another.  “That shop’s not on our list,” there’s connotation of maybe there’s something wrong with that shop.  “You know, you’ll have to pay the difference in cost out of your own pocket.”  If you look at the statutes, it doesn’t look like that was what the intent of the law was when people were entering into these agreements for insurance and have their car repaired.  “We won’t guarantee the work.”  Well, I don’t know that the insurers are doing the work, it’s really the shops that extend the guarantee, and every one of these shops, I think that testified today, will say that they guarantee their work irregardless of who they’re working on their car for.

When it comes to steering, it just takes the competitive edge away from the business person.  And you can see the frustration in the people that have testified today, to what extent they’ve gone.  It’s that old adage, “I’ve had enough and I just can’t take anymore.”

When it comes to the issues of setting labor rates, one of the things that everybody must first understand is, there’s no requirement in this state for anybody to post a labor rate to start with.  And there’s a big difference, and I don’t think that anybody is intent here is to do away with commercial business agreements.  If somebody wants to discount their wares and repair vehicles or whatever for a discounted price, they should be able to do that.  But along with that comes such things as being afforded other benefits.  Maybe it’s volume of work.  I’ll discount my work by $20 an hour if you send me x-number of vehicles.  It’s when you don’t have that relationship, that these companies try to impose those same standards on the repair, which creates a problem.

You might ask yourself, well, what is the outcome of this?  Well, one of the biggest outcomes is, somebody has got to pay, and it’s usually the consumer.  And they pay in the form of either a substandard repair, or maybe a part charge that’s not put on the car, or a labor operation charge that isn’t done.  

If you look at labor rates in Southern California, they’re about half of what they are in Northern California.  But the cars, when they are repaired cost the same to repair, and sometimes even a little bit more.  And what is done, in Southern California a one hour fender is charged out at two hours or maybe even three hours.  It’s a form of cost shifting in order to makeup the difference.

The shops are struggling with the inflation rates that we’re involved in, and they have to have some release.  You’ve all heard people say, “I can’t raise my rates.”  
One shop owner told me one time, he says, “I follow the Golden Rule.”  I kind of looked at him and thought, “Well, I know what that is.”  And he said, “No, you don’t.”  He said, “The Golden Rule is, that the insurance companies have the gold and they make the rules.”  And that’s really the way it works out there.  And there really has to be something done.

The industry, it’s ironic.  We have a real love/hate relationship here.  The insurers need the shops to fix the cars.  But yet, I think you can see, they’re just getting pushed to the point where they can’t really function at that level anymore.  They’ve cut everything they can.  They’ve absorbed everything they can.  And when you look at the regulatory influence that the Bureau of Automotive Repair has over the repair industry, to cost shift, or to charge for job operations that aren’t done, subjects their license to discipline and can have an extreme consequence to them.  So, it would be hopeful that there would be some common ground reached so that these two parties can come together.

Personally, I think that having the Bureau of Automotive Repair collect some of the data regarding labor rates would be a good idea.  You first have to establish the requirement to have one.  We should talk about retail labor rates, and not commercial business agreements.  And that information should be public information.  I don’t know that you have to have a state agency to do the survey, because if you know what the data is, anybody could do the survey—if it’s public.

When it comes to steering, I think that’s the one area where it’s a bit of a challenge.  Once the consumer indicates that they have made a choice, I think that’s when the insurance industry has to say, “Fine.  You can take your car there.”  To continue on with that dialogue, to say that they’re going to be delayed, the adjuster can’t get out there, that the survey shows the shop charges too much money, those are all things that are detrimental to the process.

If you have any further questions, I’d be glad to answer them.  But I hope that that is a bit of a summary as to what I have seen today.  And it’s just a shame that the two parties can’t get together.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, maybe we can help them get together.

MR. WOOD:  I would hope so.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. WOOD:  Thank you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  I think we’ve concluded….yes, Mr. Cignarle.

MR. CIGNARLE:  Just one update.  We had spoke previously regarding, or the committee spoke about, and Mr. Crozat, about Geico.  We weren’t able to provide with you any detailed information.  However, I was just informed that we have filed an accusation as of Friday against Geico on this specific issue, and that will be moving forward.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  That’s good news.  Do any of the insurers want to address us on this issue?  Mr. Sorich does.

UNIDENTIFIED:  He’s very brave, because he may never get his car fixed again if he testifies.

CHAIR SPEIER:  No, he knows exactly where he’s going to take his car.  It’s to a direct repair shop.

SAM SORICH:  Madam Chair, members of the committee, Sam Sorich with the Association of California Insurance Companies.  And just briefly, I would just point out, that our responsibility is to our customers and claimants.  That’s where our responsibility is.  We want to make sure that cars are repaired properly and safely.

Our primary responsibility is not to keep repair shops in business.  We want to make sure that the insurance benefits available are enough to repair cars, but it would be a mistake to require us to use the posted rates.  The Department of Insurance’s regulations require insurers who choose to do labor rate surveys, to use the rates charged.  The rates posted, if we were to do that, would allow the repair industry to dictate rates that are unreasonable and too high.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Why do a survey at all?  Why don’t we just have the individual customer go out and get three estimates?  What’s wrong with that?

MR. SORICH:  First of all, there is no requirement to do a survey under existing law.  Companies have a variety of methods they use to determine what rates are fair and proper.  We have found in the….getting three estimates was the way that business was done in the past.  We found that that was not consumer friendly; was inefficient; and was better to allow consumers to work with insurance companies, work with repair shops, and that is what is done in the great majority of cases.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, let me argue differently, Mr. Sorich.  I mean, I don’t necessarily want to go out and get three estimates to get my car repaired, but I also don’t want to pay $1,500 when the place I take my car to, my insurance company says, “Oh, you know what?  We’re not going to pay that much.”  I mean, we’ve got a huge gap between what the consumer expects from their insurance company when they’re in an accident in terms of the fact that it’s going to be repaired and repaired to a condition that it was before.  I don’t want to have to have two different colors of paint on my car.  I mean, I want to be able to have the tint matched.  And to suggest now that that can’t be done by some insurers who just arbitrarily now say, “We’re not going to do that.  We’re not going to pay for that.”
MR. SORICH:  Senator, I did not hear any evidence this morning of a great number of consumers who actually were complaining to the Department of Insurance.  The department testified that they received a large number of complaints from body shops, but when the department has contacted the consumers who were the subjects of those repairs, the consumers did not go forward.  If there was this great dissatisfaction with the way that repairs are done on the part of consumers, wouldn’t you think that consumers would be coming to the Department of Insurance?  I didn’t see any evidence of that.  I hear repair shops complaining that they’re unhappy with the rates that insurance companies want to pay for repairs.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I would suggest to you that 600 cases that have been filed, I guess, at one point or another, 250 of them have gone to small claims court from one repair shop owner, and 90 percent, 95 percent of those being settled, or being judged by the small claims court judge on behalf of the consumer, suggest that this is not a small problem.  And to diminish it or minimize it, I don’t think is in our interest.  Because, you and I know what will happen.  This is ripe for class action.  I can just smell it.
MR. SORICH:  And, Senator, I would observe that insurance companies know that.  And that I would suggest that insurance companies knowing the threat that they face in small claims actions, the threat that they’re facing from the Department Insurance on regulatory activity, the threat that they’re facing on bad faith actions, companies are not haphazardly violating the law.  So that’s the fact.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, okay.  I can accept that possibly.  But in the end, I think the consumer should be in a position of knowing that by paying that premium, when their car gets into an accident, that it’s going to be repaired and then they’re not going to have to pick up a dime of it.  

Now, if in fact you want to create a Kaiser plan within the insurance industry in which they only can go to direct repair shops and that’s all part of the deal up front—where they’re going to pay less for their auto insurance, or they know all of these things up front, that’s a different thing.  But that’s not what they’re being offered today.

MR. SORICH:  Senator, I agree.  And we heard from a lot of dissatisfied repair shops today.  We didn’t hear from a lot of dissatisfied consumers.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, 250 of those consumers went to small claims court and got reimbursed.  So, they were dissatisfied enough to do that.

MR. SORICH:  That was the evidence put forward out of the tens of thousands of repairs that are done every year in California.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  I think you make a mistake by diminishing these cases, personally.  But, Senator Cox, do you have anything?

SENATOR COX:  Well, Madam Chair.  I’m sitting here thinking about this aspect.  It does seem to me, that we already have in this repair business what’s a preferred provider organization akin to what happens in the medical insurance marketplace.  And so, I think, frankly, the Legislature has some work to do.  I do, in fact, believe that we can resolve the issue.  It does seem to me that the Bureau of Automotive Repair, they had some, not just with the auto body, but they had some 20,000 complaints last year.  Maybe they, in fact, have a different 20,000 complaints.  And so it is a situation.  It just seems to me that, I think, the Legislature is just may have to rethink this aspect of steering.  I don’t sit here today saying that we ought to just go out and get three bids.  I may be different, though, Madam Chair.  I read those policies when I get them.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  And you have a special interest in the area.

SENATOR COX:  I do.  Yes, and I lean towards lots of insurance, there’s no question about that.  The more, the better.  But it does seem to me, that you recognize that when you go with a particular company that, in fact, they’re going to try to make commercial arrangements with some auto body repair shops.  And my presumption is, that in some way, that keeps the rates lower than if we just allow the rates, or the charges, to accelerate.  But I think this is an issue that we can work through and resolve.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s look forward to doing that.

MR. SORICH:  Thank you, Senator.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Thank you.  All right, let’s move on now to Joel Laucher, and have an update on the 2003 wildfires and subsequent investigations.

Mr. Laucher, do you have any opening comments?  I assume the Commissioner has left, is that right?  And not coming back, is that right?

UNIDENTIFIED:  You know, I don’t know that, but I think that’s probably the case.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.

MR. LAUCHER:  No comments.

CHAIR SPEIER:  No comments, okay.  It is our understanding, based on press reports, that the Commissioner conducted market conduct exams on six insurers from the 2003 wildfires—is that true?

MR. LAUCHER:  We have instigated market conduct exams on actually seven carriers.  It was initially six.  We expanded it by another carrier for underwriting issues, and we did four exams based on claims issues. 

CHAIR SPEIER:  And what are the results?

MR. LAUCHER: Well, we have held off the completion of those exams until they are all completed.  We have two more exams that we are looking at some files, some, basically, redacted files, that we didn’t get access to the first time through.  We’re looking at those now.  

Actually, the claims issues were pretty minimal in what we had identified in the claims side of the exams, and that’s one of the reasons we did fewer of those.  The main issues were actually in the underwriting and decision-making process regarding the setting of the limits on the homes.  And I’d say the main issues that we have found there, is that there is an inconsistent application of replacement cost evaluations and lack of documentation of how the limits were set.  Those are kind of the two main issues.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Explain that last one.

MR. LAUCHER:  When you look at the underwriting file, which includes the application, whatever sales information is there, it’s very unclear in many of the files, how the actual limit that was chosen for coverage A on the dwelling structure was set.  Frequently there isn’t an insurance devalue calculation in the file, or there is a negotiation apparently, that took place between the agent or the broker and the applicant, and it is unclear who selected the limit that was applied and issued.
MR. BAUM:  This goes to the major concern we had out of those Southern California fires of under insurance and how that…

CHAIR SPEIER:  Right.  In fact, the Commissioner came out with a fair amount of fanfare about the problem of under insurance and actually held some hearings, did he not, on the issue of under insurance?

MR. BAUM:  I believe so.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  And so it is your belief that there was under insurance issues among the homes in the wildfire areas?

MR. LAUCHER:  Well, I believe that the exams show that there’s inconsistencies in how the actual Coverage A limit is set within a given company, for example, that, in some cases they might use one method to determine the limit, or an alternative method where they might just ask the consumer what they want.  So there’s an inconsistency in how each particular company sets that limit, and then there’s a lack of documentation as to what process happened at all.
CHAIR SPEIER:  We had a hearing on the issue, and we came away from that hearing with the belief that there wasn’t an issue of under insurance, as much as there was a reliance on the software QuickQuote by many agents, that resulted in homes being under insured.  But when you actually went through the software and asked all the questions, the properties tended to, in fact, be very close to properly insured to the five or ten percent off.  

MR. BAUM:  And so, the question was the process that either the given agent or the individual engaged in.  And I think what we’re hearing Joel say is, as we go into the files to determine what documentation there was, at least in a number of cases, we’re finding them at best, inadequate, and in some cases, none existent, which is, from our perspective, potentially a real problem.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So is that for lack of the company having the proper software, or the means by which to make the assessment, or the lack of an insurance agent in not following procedures and using the existing software or procedure developed by the….regardless, of course as agent of the insurance company they will be held liable.  I just want to get a handle on this issue of…

MR. BAUM:  The issue of what’s in the file starts with the company’s protocols, and the enforcement the company follows up in terms of its agents, or adjusters, or whomever, as to what they’re requiring; what they require to have in the file and then their enforcement mechanisms if it’s not in the file, how they follow up on it.  That’s the first thing.  

As to how each company does establish the rate, that depends upon the system they’re following.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  A very simple question—is there an under insurance problem, or was there just ineffective use of the existing software or protocols?

MR. LAUCHER:  Well, we heard presentations by a number of the vendors who provide this software to the insurance companies.  And one of the things that we found was that all of them can be altered or tailored by the insurance company.  And so, just as you said, Senator, if you use it right, you may get one result.  But if you take a shortcut, or you don’t use it properly, then you may not.  And so, the impression that I had was, that to some degree this may be due to a competitive desire to get to a rate and get a response to a consumer quickly who is looking for insurance, as opposed to going through the full process of actually going through the whole thing.
The second thing that we learned was, that companies vary as far as what they do to update in subsequent years.  How careful are they to try to find out from consumers if they’ve done any work on the house; if they’ve added a deck; those kinds of things?  Because if they aren’t told about those things, then obviously there’s going to be a problem.

MR. BAUM:  And there’s the obvious tension between making sure that everything you have in the house is covered and that you have the appropriate sizing of the cost of rebuilding, and your insurance premium, which to the extent that you come back to the carrier and say I want these things covered and so forth, it generally will translate into a higher premium.  That creates a tension both between the agent, and the homeowner.  That’s why we’re focused right now, in particularly, on the documentation of the conversations and of the interaction, which right now we’re finding at least in a number of files aren’t there.  

But I think that Gary’s description of what we’ve found with respect to the systems used, is quite accurate.  That most of the systems of all of the information was put in that they’d call for would give a relatively accurate result.  It’s the process of making sure that the information that needs to be in there, gets in.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So none of the insurers, there’s been no completion of….there’s been completions of the market conduct exams, but you have not specifically negotiated the settlement with any of the insurers?

MR. LAUCHER:  That’s correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  With the exception of Allstate.

MR. LAUCHER:  Right.  With Allstate, we did include the claims issues we had identified in the settlement that we reached with Allstate.  It didn’t really include the underwriting issues.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So does that mean that they’re still subject to review for the underwriting issues?

MR. LAUCHER:  Yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And based on my understanding of that settlement, there was no penalty for any issues relative to the 2003 fires.  They just made a commitment that they would pay properly the claims…

MR. LAUCHER:  Well, the negotiated figure, because that was a settlement, included the claims issues.  So there wasn’t a specific amount that went to any one issue, but the settlement included the realm of issues identified in the settlement agreement, which included the wildfire claims issues.

CHAIR SPEIER:  In a case, if you were to find that a particular insurer did not properly use either their protocol or software and had inadequate insurance offered to their insureds, would you go back then and require them to pay the amount to replace the home?

MR. LAUCHER:  Well, you know, we haven’t gotten to the resolution process yet with these.  And there are several issues that come into play in terms of whether the consumer wanted the particular limit that was selected.  You know, how that negotiation went.

CHAIR SPEIER:  My experience has been in my homeowners insurance, that you pay the premium.  They come out.  They figure how much it’s going to cost to replace the house.  You don’t argue with them.  And you pay the premiums.  So, presuming most people are like me, as a consumer, then the question….I guess what I’m trying to get at, from the department, what’s the expectation of the consumer?
MR. BAUM:  You want to know what our remedies are….

CHAIR SPEIER:  Are the remedies just going to be a fine on the insurance company and the consumer is never made whole?

MR. LAUCHER:  Well, the first thing to note, is that in many cases in the wildfire situations, the company did do some level of investigation themselves to determine, to the degree they could, lacking documentation in the files, how that limit was derived and try to determine if the agent or the company had any liability in determining how the limit was set.  If they were the root cause for setting a limit that was not sufficient to pay the claim, there were many contracts that were revised and settlements above the maximum limits available, even with the extended replacement costs.  So the companies did do some level of that.  
You know, I would tend to agree with you that we would look for a resolution that would make the consumers whole in any case where the company had a role in leading to the under insurance, although we don’t have that kind of authority to mend it.  That would be what we would look for on their behalf.

MR. BAUM:  Not dissimilar to the Oakland Hills situation, where we didn’t have the authority necessarily, to require reformation of the contracts, the Commissioner made it sufficiently clear that there was considerable reformation that went on.

CHAIR SPEIER:  After the Oakland fires, it’s my understanding that the Insurance Department went back and audited to determine whether or not subsequently there was adequate insurance held by homeowners in that region.  Is that correct?

MR. BAUM:  I’m unfamiliar with the audit because it occurred….because we were out of office.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Laucher, do you remember?

MR. LAUCHER:  Well, the department did do a study on this issue in late 1999.  Actually, we had done a previous one.  I don’t actually recall the date.  But we did one in 1999, and it showed, actually, inconsistencies in the limits ranging among the carriers that we surveyed at the time.  And there were some recommendations for some changes in those practices, but the department had, at that time, intended to have some kind of hearing, but the then commissioner didn’t really make it a priority.  When the new commissioner came in, Commissioner Garamendi, the issues really were different in our homeowners market.  It had to do more with companies withdrawing from the market, or looking to get off the book of business using numbers of claims, or that type of thing to get off of risks, and that is what this commissioner did made a priority, and he did attempt to get some legislation there.  So issues had kind of changed, but we had certainly looked at that problem and saw that there was a real problem there.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  When do you think your market conduct exams will be completed and that you’ll make…

MR. LAUCHER:  I would hope that they will be completed sometime by January.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  And then you will make an announcement about all of them at the same time?  Is that your intention now?

MR. LAUCHER:  Well, the exams, for the most part the information that they include is confidential information.  So the only information that would be made public is if we were to take some enforcement actions.  So I’m assuming that that is a possibility.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And so if and when you do that, that would be in January?

MR. LAUCHER:  Yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Does the department believe that as part of its oversight authority, that they have a responsibility to determine if there is over insurance or under insurance?

MR. LAUCHER:  Yes, we do.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, looking prospectively, under insurance should not be a problem if, in fact, you audit on a regular basis?
MR. LAUCHER:  Well, what the department looks for is that companies have a protocol for making sure the consumer is insured to value and how that is communicated to the consumer.  I think the companies would say that just because they set what is there insurance to value, just means that you qualify, perhaps, to buy their product, but isn’t a guarantee that that’s the limit that will be rebuild your home.  What the department looks at, is that whatever process the companies adopt, that they apply it consistently, and that they fully disclose to the consumer what the process is, and what it means to them.  And we look….if they have a limit….the limit that is on the policy, we expect some documentation to show how that was chosen.  If it’s above what the company has in their records as the insurance to value calculation, we would expect some documentation to say, how was that higher limit chosen?  Or if there were a lower limit, we would expect them to have some documentation to say, how did you arrive at this limit that’s lower than your insurance to value calculation?  So we look for whatever they do to be fully documented.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, I mean, based on what you’re saying, we should not have an under insurance issue in California, or an over insurance issue in California, if everyone plays by the rules, in terms of the rules they set forward, the protocols they create, the software they follow?

MR. BAUM:  That is exactly the right conclusion.  We should not, if they are, in fact, playing by the rules, appropriate protocols; that the consumer knows that they ultimately will be setting the rate, choosing that rate; and that the insurance company knows that when they are giving an identifying size of coverage, that if the consumer says yes, or the consumer says I want more, or the consumer says I want less, that that should be documented in the file so that we don’t have these finger pointings that occur inevitably.  So you’re absolutely right.  And we believe they should have protocols, and we would ding them if they don’t have appropriate protocols.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Senator Cox.

SENATOR COX:  Well, let me just….I don’t believe that having protocols eliminates either the under insured or the over insured.  I think what the protocols mean, and that is, my guess is, that the insurance company doesn’t agree to, in fact, do a significant amount of over insurance just from the standpoint of filing a claim.  But it does seem to me, that if the customer, and that’s the one group that’s left out here, if the customer says no, the insurance company then, or the agent, has two choices.  One of which is, they can document it, or they can say, thank you very much and go someplace else.  And so, just because we have protocols relative to over and under insurance, I don’t believe solves that problem.  I do think the important consideration, however, is that there must be documentation relative to how a protocol was used.  Informed consent, if you will, so that at some point in time, the agent or broker or company, is not faced with the fact that the insured is attempting to get a greater value than they thought they originally had.  So, that’s accurate—correct?
MR. BAUM:  I agree with that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Anything else?  All right.  I think that takes care of the wildfires.  I think there was an issue on Unum-Provident, and a speaker that wanted to testify as well, is that right?  All right.  

JOHN METZ:  Thank you, Senator.  My name is John Metz.  I’ve been a consumer advocate for 20 plus years.  I believe several of the insurance commissioners have issued findings recognizing the fact that I’ve acted in this capacity for a long time.  The current insurance commissioner requested, I think, in 1991, that I participate on the taskforce that drafted the unfair, currently fair, claims practices regulations, and I’ve been involved with that ever since then, as well as many other issues before the Department of Insurance.  I am also chairman of the California Consumer Health Care Council, which is a 501(c)(3).
CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  And your point today is?

MR. METZ:  My point today is, that I’ve actually, and the council has been interested, in this Unum issue since late nineties and we brought the issue to the Department of Insurance back then because it was apparent to us, based on the fact that people were coming to us with complaints, that it appeared that Unum was violating the law.

Now, I want to say that the fact that this commissioner did not go along with the 48 multi-state settlement agreement with Unum is something to his credit.  I think that the settlement that he obtained is better than the multi-settlement agreement, but it leaves a lot to be desired.

And the fundamental problem with it is, that, let’s see, the day that he issued his statement, Unum also issued statements.  Even though the department found in excess of 25 separate practices affecting tens of thousands of claimants, sick and disabled claimants, as well as other policyholders who have not the claims yet, potential policyholders, competitors in the market, they found 25 or more separate practices affecting all these people.  Unum issued a statement saying that basically, “Well, we settled this thing because we didn’t want to spend out time on it.  Maybe there were a few problems and let’s go on about our business.”
Recently, on October 27th, Unum issued a rather rosy picture about the growth that it sees for itself.  

When the Commissioner issued a notification of the California Settlement Agreement, he’s quoted in the LA Times as saying, “Unum is an outlaw company.  It is a company that for years has operated in an illegal fashion.”  And the settlement agreement compels it to reevaluate 26,000 claims, approximately.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So your point is?

MR. METZ:  My point is, that they committed fraud.  They violated existing laws.  Insurance fraud in California is defined amongst other things, to prepare or make any written or oral statement that is intended to be presented to any insurance claimant in connection with or opposition to, any claim or payment or other benefit knowing that the statement contains any false or misleading information concerning any material fact, or to conceal the occurrence of any event that effects the right or entitlement of any person to benefit or payment.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, there was a Department of Insurance press release that went out October 3rd.  It’s in the backgrounder.  And one of the bullets is that Unum Provident knowingly applied the wrong definition of “total disability” in claims handling.  So, if I understand you correctly, that statement by the department underscores a standard for criminal fraud.  Is that your point?

MR. METZ:  That is the point with regard to that statement.  There are also 25 or more others that the department identified.  Each and every one of the practices clearly involves making false or misleading statements about facts that are material to the claims.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  So the department had the benefit of the May hearing and then responded to us saying “That while the department does have the authority to file criminal fraud charges against insurers, it is more theoretical in nature”—correct?

MR. COHEN:  We don’t have authority to file criminal charges, Senator, that we have authority to refer to district attorneys or attorneys general.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Right.  Absolutely.  I misspoke.

MR. COHEN:  They make the decision whether to file.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, the question is, have you ever referred to the attorney general, any action by an insurer as being consistent with criminal fraud?

MR. COHEN:  We actually referred the Unum case to district attorneys twice, and the decision was made to decline to bring criminal charges.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  But you actually have done that. 

MR. COHEN:  Yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I did not know that.  All right.

MR. METZ:  I wasn’t told that either, although I’ve asked about it.

SENATOR COX:  So you couldn’t get the district attorney to take the case.

MR. COHEN:  Correct.  Two different district attorneys.

SENATOR COX:  And the district attorney didn’t take the case because what?  They thought the monetary fine being imposed by the Department of Insurance was adequate?

MR. COHEN:  Well, I can’t speak for the district attorney in terms of why they didn’t take the case.  I can speculate that the reason is both because these cases are complex and difficult, and because as you suggested, Senator, there is an adequate and in some ways, I would argue, superior, remedy available to the department as compared to a criminal prosecution.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you think fining is preferable to…

MR. COHEN:  Well, no.  We received an extraordinary….we obtained an extraordinary result in the Unum case.  And we didn’t just fine Unum.  I mean, Unum has agreed to revisit all claims that were terminated or denied from 1997 to date.  Unum has agreed to change its claims practices and agreed to an injunction.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  So do you then hire a monitor to make sure that this company does all those things?  

MR. COHEN:  Well, we’re going to continue to oversee Unum through market conduct exams, and they know that we’re going to be using that method.  In addition, in terms of the claims review, Unum has agreed to the appointment of an independent person to manage the independent claims evaluation that’s going to be happening.  And that’s actually going to be someone who is a former employee of the department.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  I’m glad to hear that because I think the presumption that somehow, just because you’ve taken action and you find someone, you then tell them to go back and relook at these claims, that somehow that’s just going to happen on the natural, when their conduct, historically, would suggest that they’re not the best actors.

MR. BAUM:  We agree, Senator.  And a key difference between the multi-state settlement and the California settlement was specifically on that issue.  California would not settle with the company unless there was an opportunity for a third party independent review and appeal procedure.  That does not exist in the multi-state.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So, we really have an interesting question to ask ourselves.  We file actions criminally against chiropractors who bill for doing work on an individual when they’re doing it on a dog, as you put out in a press release not so long ago, and it’s referenced in the backgrounder, and for others.  But we don’t file criminal charges, for the most part, against companies.  So the question is, this statute is on the books—should it stay there; or should we get rid of it?

MR. COHEN:  I think that it is a fair question to ask, and since the question has come up through Mr. Metz’ efforts and also from the committee, I have directed that we develop a protocol within the department to make sure that in any case of significant fraud alleged against an insurance company, that we will take it up the chain of command and make sure that criminal referral is considered as one of the remedies that we look at.  So I want to make sure that we’re not just kind of avoiding it by not at least considering it.

I guess the response, though, that I still feel that it would have to be an extraordinary case, and the Unum case was an extraordinary case, and did justify making a referral.  The reason I say it would have to be an extraordinary case is, because we already have the ability at an administrative hearing with the burden of proof of preponderance of evidence, the authority to revoke a license of an insurance company.  That’s the death penalty.  I mean, so we already have extremely strong authority….

CHAIR SPEIER:  But, they can reorganize under another name.  

MR. COHEN:  So, I mean, I agree that we should look at criminal prosecution in the appropriate case, but I also think we need to weigh the jury trial, proof beyond a reasonable doubt, etc.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Okay.  Anything else, Mr. Metz?

MR. METZ:  Yeah.  I did a little review of the enforcement actions the department posted on the website for 2004.  And virtually, all of them, of course, were for fraud committed against insurers.  And I think it’s absolutely appropriate that people who commit fraud against insurers are prosecuted.  In those cases, and if you read them, you’ll see that the department devotes a lot of time and energy to it, they considered it important enough to devote their time and energy in order to get, for example, based upon a $30,000 fraud, they were seeking eight years in prison and $150,000 in fines.  The list goes on and on and on.  It’s all relatively small stuff compared to the size of the frauds that we’re talking about here.  And I don’t disagree with Gary about the notion that the department should use all of the mechanisms it has.  It is not a matter of either or, it’s simply a matter that right now, because insurers know for certainty….not only insurers, but those who work with them in these acts.  And it’s not all insurers.  It’s just those that violate the law.  They know they’re not going to get tagged.  They’re not going to do any time.  
So, you have a statute that’s enforced in an uneven way, where it  makes it very clear to the bigger players in the field, that crime pays.  It pays bigger time than all of the fraud actions ever brought by the Department of Insurance put together against the ones who are cheating insurance companies.  And I encourage them to continue doing it. 
So, unless something changes, I mean, the penalties that we see are no more than blips on the bottom line.  They’re important blips.  I think it’s much better than doing nothing.

But I agree with you, either enforce the law, or take it off the books.

SENATOR COX:  What happens if the district attorney won’t take the case?

MR. METZ:  Well, I think that the biggest problem is that it’s a question of mindset.  There’s something that’s been going on as long as we’ve all been alive, where nobody ever prosecutes this stuff.  And so district attorneys faced with the possibility of prosecuting insurers, face a daunting shift of mindset.  
I know of only two cases, I believe the Fresno DA brought cases on the 549 and 550 against employees of an insurance company.  There’s a tremendous amount of pressure not to do this.  I mean, we all know that the insurance industry employs one-third of all non-governmental lawyers in the United States.  They have vast….

CHAIR SPEIER:  I didn’t know that.

MR. METZ:  Well, I’ll get you the book where I got it from.  The last time I looked…

SENATOR COX:  Well, let me just tell you what my experience with respect to district attorneys.  They have a mind of their own, and if they think they have the ability to prosecute somebody who is doing wrong, they do that.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, in truth, the resources for the DA are limited, and they will weigh what kind of a time suck a case like this will be, and oftentimes has.  Now, the attorney general has more resources; probably it should be the first stop whenever you’ve done these reviews, because their resources are just so much more extensive.

All right, we’re going to have to conclude this section.  Anything else you’d like to say?

MR. METZ:  I’d just like to point out that the idea that insurers are violating the law and committing fraud is not coming from me.  The Commissioner made this public statement, quoted in the LA Times, that in the last 12 months alone, we’ve seen the largest insurance brokers in America, the largest property and casualty companies in America, the largest title insurance companies in America, the largest financial services of firms in America, and the largest disability insurers, all engaged in flagrant violations of their most basic obligations to their customers.  That came shortly after Elliott Spitzer, the attorney general of New York, says, Fraud in insurance is vast.  He said, in doing his investigations regarding the broker fee kickbacks, that he was amazed at the extent of the violations that he found.  
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  You’ve made your point.  Thank you.

MR. METZ:  Thank you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  I have one last issue.  I think it falls into this section.  There was an article recently in the LA Times written by Jamie Cort.  I’m sure you’ve seen it.  It talks about the zip code issue, and kind of goes through a litany of comments made by the Commissioner about how he’s going to address this issue.  Starting back in 1991, and then when he left office in 1994, saying he ran out of time and that Commissioner Quckenbush should take it up.  

In 2003, he once again said that it has to be addressed.  In January of 2004, he said, Let there be no doubt about it, there has been sufficient information to convince me that the current regulations are unjust, unfair, and must change.  That will happen.  The schedule is such that by mid-summer 2004, there will be new regulations.  

In May of this year, I intend to change the zip code rating program in California before I leave office.
Where are we on zip codes?

MR. BAUM:  Senator, I believe actually this issue came up at the earlier hearing.  You asked exactly that same question.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Oh did I really?

MR. BAUM:  It’s okay.  It’s all right.  And the answer…

CHAIR SPEIER:  Maybe this article hadn’t been written then.

MR. BAUM:  It’s not a problem.  As a matter of fact, Jamie Cort, I think you asked it because Jamie Cort was one of the witnesses at that…

UNIDENTIFIED:  It was Doug Heller.

MR. BAUM:  I’m sorry.  It was Doug Heller who was the witness.  The answer is the same—the Commissioner is on a schedule.  We will have it done by the end of his term.  In fact, we are on a fairly expedited schedule, and we hope to conclude our process hopefully by the end of this year, if we can stay on schedule.

The primary task we are doing right now is examining, as you may recall, there are a number of petitions in front of us related to this issue that make proposals as to how we should resolve the issue.  The Commissioner expressed considerable concern over the fact, and has targeted resolving the fact that people who are on one street next to the other have significantly different rates.  That’s what we’re looking at.  We’re looking at the system, and we are trying to run it through the data to find out which proposal that we are looking at might resolve it, and what the effects of it are.  Because, unfortunately when you lower somebody’s rate, you end up potentially raising somebody else’s rate.  So that’s part of the examination we’re doing—as to how to do this in a fair and equitable methodology for all of California.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  But in fairness, if you’re raising someone’s rates that’s been artificially low, you’re equalizing it.
MR. BAUM:  Absolutely.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, let’s be clear about that.  Okay.  Very good.  Let’s move on then to the Enforcement Branch.  Mr. Banda.

DALE BANDA:  Good afternoon, Senator.  I am Dale Banda.  I’m deputy commissioner in charge of the Enforcement Branch.  It has two divisions underneath the branch.  One is, the Fraud Division, and the second is the Investigation Division. 

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Do you have any opening comments you want to make?

MR. BANDA:  No, I don’t.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  You don’t.  Okay.  We’ll go right to the…

MR. BANDA:  I’ll take any questions from the committee.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Now there was an audit done by the state auditor on the workers’ comp issues within the department that was fairly critical.  The question I have is, and it now appears that you’re doing a million dollar study—is that correct?

MR. BANDA:  Correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And when is that going to be completed?

MR. BANDA:  The proposal was given to the Workers’ Comp Fraud Assessment Commission, and at that point, they voted to assess an additional million dollars to the department or to the actual account, and that was proposed to the Department of Finance in the form….it was supposed to be a BCP.  I just recently heard last week, that that expenditure authority has been approved, hence we anticipate the study occurring in next fiscal year ’06/’07.
CHAIR SPEIER:  And your BCP was for how many positions?

MR. BANDA:  No, it wasn’t for a position.  It was for the study.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Just for the study.  Okay.

MR. BANDA:  Correct.  One million dollars.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Now, the auditor said that there was a lack of a realistic measurement of fraud in the system.  There’s no way to determine whether the amount charged employers is worth it.  The problem with the DA’s getting funded.  The method of prioritizing suspected fraudulent claims so that those of less importance were not referred for investigation would have moved the DOI Fraud Division….All right.  So, I guess I’m looking at a more global question.  If we don’t have a handle on fraud in the workers’ comp system, we’re charging employers x-number of dollars for it; who’s to say we have a handle on the fraud in auto, homeowners, and other insurance?  And, if we don’t have a handle, then how are going to get a handle?

MR. BANDA:  The Fraud Division receives approximately….well, last year, in ’04/’05, we received approximately 25,000 referrals.  We average about 2,000 referrals on all programs statewide.  And part of the referral process is to determine what has been reported to us ________ actually been paid in the claim, what the potential fraud would be, should the claim continue on, or the activity, or third, if there was suspected fraud, because there are different components.
In ’04/’05, we had a reported potential fraud and actual fraud of about $900 million—less than a billion dollars.  And so we do have a form of measuring what’s reported to us.  It doesn’t necessarily mean that all of it is being reported, but we do have some framework to work with.  
And with that, we look at, if we look at return on investment, we did some calculations in that the expenditure, the actual expenditures of the district attorney and the Fraud Division compared to the chargeable fraud; what we did in cases that were actually charged, the amount, comes out to about a three to one ratio for every one dollar the program is given.  We get three dollars out of that particular….out of the program.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, now that is disputed by an internal DOI study that suggests that, in fact, return on investment in this case, and I’ll quote, “The memo talks of special note utilizing the average dollar amount per investigative hour, figure of $1,297 for direct hours recorded.   Fraud Division expended $191,000 in funding to arrest and prosecute approximately $11,000 in actual fraudulent loss to an insurance carrier.  Suffice it to say, that return on investment concerning this case was five-tenths of a dollar in identical actual fraud prosecuted for one dollar in investigative funding expended.”  
Now, this individual—and this was his internal DOI document that I’m sure you’re familiar with—suggests that the fraud we are investigating, we are not doing in a very smart fashion, and that we’re not going after the big problem areas, necessarily.  

And you know, I understand how that can happen from time to time, because sometimes it’s easier to go after the fraud that is more tangible and may, in fact, be smaller in nature.  But, we’re not the only state that incurs this kind of fraud, and other states probably are doing equal to or better at this, and how can we improve, is what I guess my question is?  

MR. BANDA:  That’s a lot of questions, and I’m going to start with the last one first.  And that we do compare as best we can to other states fraud efforts.  
In case in point, in 2003, according to the Coalition Against Insurance Fraud, the Department of Insurance in California set a national record for 1,118 convictions.  The next state, or actually the three states, I believe was, Florida, New York, and New Jersey combined, or a little bit more than that was the actual amount of convictions.  So we try to compare ourselves with other states as best we can.  Some of the laws are different, so sometimes you get into I’m comparing apples with oranges.  
As far as referencing the internal memo, that memo was actually requested by myself, to look at a workload analysis to determine where we would put investigators in on existing vacancies.  The actual memo itself never came to my review, or even a first line supervisor to review it.  There were a lot of flaws in the memo, including the analyst not realizing there was a bug in the database, where we actually had cases that were newly assigned that were not documented properly, addition to the number of SFCs (suspected fraudulent claims), the analyst went to our mail intake unit, rather than using data directly from our database, which skewed the figures even more.
The case you’re talking about was actually a Fresno case, where the amount of hours….actually, the case since then has been adjudicated successfully with conviction.  I think approximately, it was about 176 hours involved—investigative hours involved.  
With our methodology, the way that we were looking at the corrected methodology, would be around $50 to $60 an hour if you used the whole region’s office budget.  
If you look at it from even more extending even more, the Department of Insurance does an annual assessment of the annual rate of an investigator, which is about $97 an hour, which comes to around $17,000, I believe.  I don’t have the figures in front of me.  So I believe there was an actual return of investment in that particular case.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Perkins has a question for you.

BRIAN PERKINS:  Madam Chair and Senator Cox, I’ve looked over both memos—the one that was prepared earlier, and the one that we’ve received in preparation for this hearing most recently from the Department of Insurance.  And they’re difficult to reconcile, because at least so far as I can tell, they take two different approaches and actually seek to answer, to some extent, two different sets of answers.
The second one, the one that I received most recently and that’s still being reviewed, I think because it has small math error ____.  That one sought to determine how many direct hours were spent by investigators on investigations, and came to a percentage rate of 70 percent.

The earlier one was a much more nuanced analysis, and I can’t tell yet whether or not there is methodological flaws, or whether it’s simply a different way of looking at the problem.  And the nuance was, that they wanted to figure out the bang for the buck.  And while bang for the buck could be 70 percent or 80 percent direct hours, could be a proxy for the comment about, or the statement about bang for the buck.  This earlier memo, at least in my judgment is not per se flawed.  If there was a flaw in the way in which it was developed, I still think that the questions that its trying to get at are significantly different than the ones that were presented most recently.  I’m hoping that I will be able to follow up a little bit later in trying to figure this out, because I’m personally a little bit troubled by some of the numbers.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I mean, the numbers are very different—44 percent, was the three year average.

MR. PERKINS:  And in fact, at least in that respect, that goes to the methodological issue.  The individual who is doing the analysis basically took the perspective, that if an investigator were on the beat looking for the bad guys, that was direct time.  Other time was not.  And so, the example that was given was, perhaps if someone went to a school and spoke about fraud, that that was billed to the program, the auto fraud program, as direct time.  But at least from the analysts’ perspective, that’s not what the public would expect to call direct time, because it doesn’t look out for bad guys.  So, that’s just one characteristic, one distinction, between the two different perspectives.  That still gives me a little bit of concern, because I don’t think the analyst was necessarily off base in trying to approach it ______________.  They may not have understood the assignment, but they certainly came up with some provocative conclusions.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So, I guess maybe the short hand version is, if there is any validity to this original memo….let’s put aside disputes about the flaws and the like….what steps are you taking, or will you take, to maximize the bang for the buck?

MR. BANDA:  The first thing on the insurance carriers side, we get a lot of referrals that come in that really have no merit.  They just come in and they don’t meet or rise to the level of where they can open an investigation.  So what we have done is just recently we’ve promulgated a new array of SI use, (special investigation regulations) that clearly define definitions when to refer, and increase training, and provide more clarity to how we want to get quality cases being referred.  So that’s from a regulatory standpoint from the industry coming in.  

Second, what we’ve done is, we’ve enhanced the database.  There was coding errors when we developed the database.  The database was actually developed in 2001.  It’s an all inclusive database which tracks the number of referrals and all employees times and then is broken down by time sheet categories.  And so, the point of when we developed the database, and I was actually involved in it, was to look at efficiency and determine where to direct our resources adequately.  Since then, we’ve also provided additional guidance and training to the supervisors to be more efficient when we open up cases so that when we actually do a case, that we can get a successful prosecution as a result of it.  So we’ve done some steps, in my opinion, that is corrected.  And hopefully, I believe, in showing the numbers as they go through the years are starting to become more and more on the positive nature in how much we’re actually investigating.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  I have one last question.  We got a phone call through the committee from a DOI employee (this is referenced in the backgrounder), speaking about some of the personnel problems in the Fraud Division, and in particular about multiple accidental discharges of weapons in several DOI Fraud Division offices, including one in which an employee lost a portion of a finger.  You reported back to the committee that the accidental discharge of the weapon was due to a violation of department policies and that investigator is no longer with DOI.  What does that mean?  Was that person transferred somewhere else?  Was that person fired?  
MR. BANDA:  There were two incidences that you are referring to.  The first one, was an investigator that was cleaning his gun in an office which was….in each office there is a clearing barrel.  If you’re going to actually do anything with your weapon, you’re supposed to put it in the clearing barrel so that there is no accidents.  In any event, there was an unintentional discharge.  There’s no, in my opinion, accidental.  The gun doesn’t accidentally go off.  Somebody unintentionally discharged it.  In this case, it was discharged into a table.  As a result of that, when we initiated an internal affairs investigation, prior to the internal investigation being completed, which was later determined that the investigator was in violation of policy, that investigator, on his own, left state service prior to the conclusion of the investigation.
The second incident was range incident where, once again, there was another investigation where the investigator violated policy, this was the finger, it was in a range facility, not in the office.  And ultimately, that was investigated and determined that to be a violation of policy.  Prior to that investigation being concluded, that investigator, as well, left state service.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Do our investigators need guns?  

MR. BANDA:  I believe that they do because we do a lot of arrests that involve not only insurance fraud, but other crimes that occur.  And we’ve had situations, we’ve had organized gangs involved in insurance fraud, we’ve had staged auto accidents, where we’ve actually went out and seized drugs and narcotics and cash.  So, I think most of our….in some cases, a lot of our suspects have prior criminal records.  We’ve worked with the CHP, the Department of Justice, in coordinating this.
CHAIR SPEIER:  But isn’t most of your fraud being generated by agents?  I mean, isn’t that where….where is most of your fraud coming from?  I mean, all the press releases we get are all about agents.

MR. BAUM:  We have two divisions.  The Investigations Division deals with the agents, and they do not carry guns.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.

MR. BANDA:  Correct.  The Investigation Division does not carry guns; the Fraud Division does.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  So, give us some recent examples of how the guns were appropriate.


MR. BANDA:  We do a lot of undercover operations.  We’ve done some involving the staged auto accident rings, where they go out and they prey on the unknowing public as to setting them up for an accident.  Those particular gangs have had history of criminal activity that we worked with in conjunction with the Highway Patrol, as well as with the Department of Justice and the FBI.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But you don’t go out there alone, you enlist the assistance of the CHP or…
MR. BANDA:  We go out alone.  We do our own surveillance.  And if it’s the taskforces….on the staged auto accident rings we do a taskforce.  We work with the district attorneys and CHP.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, safety retirement for both investigators and Fraud Division.
MR. BANDA:  There’s actually the safety retirement….for the Investigation Division has a little different safety retirement than the Fraud Division investigators.  But there is safety retirement.

CHAIR SPEIER:  For both.

MR. BANDA:  Correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Senator Cox.

SENATOR COX:  Those who are carrying weapons, are they ____ certified?

MR. BANDA:  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  And the loss of a finger, was that a workers’ compensation claim?

MR. BANDA:  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  It was.

MR. BANDA  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  And a disability claim, as well?

MR. BANDA:  Well, that’s pending, but it’s likely.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s move onto Investigations, unless you have anything else, Senator.

SENATOR COX:  Well, I have some questions about….I raised the issue regarding attorneys.  Is it the appropriate time to talk about that now?

CHAIR SPEIER:  I’m certain it would be.

SENATOR COX:  Well, let me just ask the questions, then, relative to the number of….it appears to me that the department has approximately 80 attorneys—is that correct, Mr. Cohen?

MR. COHEN:  I think if we had our full compliment we would.  I’m not sure we’re quite up to that, but that’s close.

SENATOR COX:  As I looked at that, those 80 attorneys, I’m also concerned about the significant amount of legal work that’s contracted out to using outside counsel.  So, can you give us some information relative to the number of contracts the department has with outside counsel?

MR. COHEN:  Right now, we have one with the firm that has been representing us in connection with the holocaust statute—the one that went up to the Supreme Court and now the case is still active because the insurers are seeking to recover attorney’s fees from the department.  So, the outside firm is continuing to handle that case.  

We have one with a firm that is helping us with our investigation into the title industry and the development of….we’re in the process of doing a competition study as a prerequisite for holding rate hearings and title.  

And we have one with the firm, it’s a contingent fee agreement, but with the firm that has been doing the Executive Life case.  

Those are the only significant ones, I think.  And then the Conservation Liquidation Office frequently hires outside counsel.

SENATOR COX:  Can you give me four names of the firms that….

MR. COHEN:  Alschuler Grossman does the holocaust case; Strumwasser & Woocher is doing the title case; and Thelen Reid & Priest is doing the Executive Life case.
SENATOR COX:  That’s three.  You gave us four names.  You gave us the number of four.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Executive Life.

MR. COHEN:  No.  Those are the three.  The rest of them are all with the Conservation Liquidation Office, I believe.  

SENATOR COX:  The cost to the department setting aside the ones not continuancy, do you have that in your….

MR. COHEN:  I really don’t, but I can easily get that for you.

SENATOR COX:  Could you provide us with that information?


MR. COHEN:  Absolutely.


SENATOR COX:  How were the firms selected, by the way?


MR. COHEN:  Thelen Reid & Priest had been retained prior to my coming to the department.  They’ve been representing the department.  And so was Alshuler, actually.  Both of those two firms had been retained by previous commissioners.  And, Strumwasser & Woocher, we hired.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Was that a sole source?


MR. COHEN:  Yes.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So you don’t go out to bid?


MR.COHEN:  No.


CHAIR SPEIER:  And why is that?


MR. COHEN:  Well, under the state __________ rules, attorneys are not subject to the requirement to go out for bid.  And generally, what I do, is I interview….


CHAIR SPEIER:  But there is no prohibition to going out.


MR. COHEN:  No, there isn’t.


CHAIR SPEIER:  I mean, I would think there would be any number of law firms that would love to have….what’s the hourly rate that you’re paying?


MR. COHEN:  We generally negotiate a rate that is a discount off of the firms prevailing rate.  The discounts vary between 10 and 20 percent.


SENATOR COX:  As opposed to the posted rate.


MR. COHEN:  Exactly.  Exactly.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I saw one contract that appeared to be a $450 an hour rate—is that a discounted rate?  I think it’s for the holocaust contract.


MR. COHEN:  I would have to look at that.  I don’t know the answer to that off the top of my head.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, if it was discounted…

MR. BAUM:  I think Mr. Cohen indicated that that retention occurred before we came into office.  So, whatever the agreement was prior to our coming into office, is what we’re living by.


MR. COHEN:  It could be.  I mean, there are plenty of lawyers out there who are charging $500, $600 an hour and more.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So, $450 could be a discount, is that what you’re saying?


MR. COHEN:  Four fifty could be, but I will check.  I honestly don’t know.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.

SENATOR COX:  Let me just continue, if I may, with Mr. Cohen, Madam Chair.  And I know you want to get out of here, so I will, in fact, be brief.  I hope Mr. Cohen’s answers will be sufficient so that it’s not necessary for us to have another hearing regarding this issue.


You, of course, Madam Chair and members of the insurance commissioner’s office know that my opposition to the phishing expedition letter that was sent out earlier this year under Mr. Cohen’s signature.  And it was certainly, you know, we all want to go after the bad actors.  I don’t want to have any misunderstanding about that.  I am concerned about the fact that it appears that rather than looking for a needle, you’ve built the haystack.

So, my first question to Mr. Cohen is, what did you find or learn from the information that was collected?


MR. COHEN:  Primarily what we found was, a) contingent commissions were essentially universal throughout the industry.  All agents and brokers were using contingent commissions of one kind or another.  And, b) nondisclosure of those commissions was also universal throughout the industry.  They were not being disclosed to consumers or…


SENATOR COX:  So what actions will you take to do the findings?


MR. COHEN:  Well, two.  Well, three.  We proposed legislation, which did not survive this committee; we promulgated regulations and had a number of workshops and hearings with respect to the regulations.  The industry opposed the regulations very strongly.  And then, we tried another tactic, which was to work with the two major agent broker trade associations to see whether we could come up with a voluntary plan or code of conduct that they would adopt that would lead to disclosure of commissions.  And the IBAS has come out with such a….it’s a guideline, is what they call it, for its members.  And at that point, we said that we were going to step back from our regulatory effort; see what happens; see whether that code of conduct is adopted broadly within the industry; and if it has the kind of effect that we want, and if so, regulations may not be needed.  The third thing that we are doing is, we have brought one case, and we are continuing to pursue other cases for enforcement actions against companies that not only charge contingent commissions and fail to disclose them, but also steered the customers in one way or another based on the commission that the agency or brokerage would receive.  And some of that information that we’re pursuing in those investigations, came from the letter to which you referred.


SENATOR COX:  Where are all the materials located today that you collected…

MR. COHEN:  They’re at the department.


SENATOR COX:  At the department.  Are the accessible to the public?


MR. COHEN:  No.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Has any information that’s been received based upon the letter that you sent out, the one where it says, if you’ve ever committed a crime or anything, report it to us…has that been reviewed by non-department staff?


MR. COHEN:  No.


SENATOR COX:  None of the materials have been reviewed or shared with outside counsel?


MR. COHEN:  No.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.


MR. COHEN:  And believe it or not, we did have two companies come forward and admit to conduct that was clearly in violation, as they acknowledged.


CHAIR SPEIER:  And what happened to them?


MR. COHEN:  We are in negotiations with both.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So, nothing has happened.


MR. COHEN:  Not yet, but it will.


SENATOR COX:  So that’s in response to question number seven which said Has your company or any of its employees or producers conducted or otherwise been involved with inappropriate solicitation activities?  If so, please provide details of such requests.

MR. COHEN:  We have gotten at least two, that I’m aware of, responses that were affirmative, yes.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  How many responses did you get, Mr. Cohen?


MR. COHEN:  I don’t have that figure.


SENATOR COX:  How many letters did you send?


MR. COHEN:  It was in the hundreds.


CHAIR SPEIER:  You sent hundreds of letters out?


MR. COHEN:  Yes.


SENATOR COX:  One hundred, 200?


MR. COHEN:  I honestly don’t know, but I can get you that information.


SENATOR COX:  All right.  And how many responses did you receive?


MR. COHEN:  The responses, we generally received responses.  There were a few cases where we didn’t receive responses and we pursued by means of subpoena.


SENATOR COX:  Would you just provide the committee with the number of letters that you sent and responses you received, and the number of subpoenas that you issued?


MR. COHEN:  Absolutely.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Can you provide the committee with the actual lists of those that you sent the letters to?


MR. COHEN:  Sure.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  And in hindsight, do you think this was a good exercise?


MR. COHEN:  At the time we were getting, there was a great deal of interest at the national level, at the NAIC, to get handle on how broad this problem was.  And so I would say, for purposes of ascertaining the answer to that question, it was useful.  For purposes of bringing enforcement actions it was too many to be useful for purposes….I mean, I take the Senator’s point, that being more focused, if you’re purpose is to get at just the few bad guys, is the better way to go.

CHAIR SPEIER:  How many people do you think you dedicated to this project?


MR. COHEN:  There were two lawyers who had been working on it, and then we were fortunate for a lot of just the review of the data, we were able to use law students who were unpaid interns.


CHAIR SPEIER:  You had law students?


MR. COHEN:  Yeah.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.


MR. BAUM:  We don’t pay them.


MR. BANDA:  Right.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Well, this takes us to investigations.  Because I have a particular interest in SB 940, as you might recall, and part of why we added the 20 cents to the premium was so that the backlog at the department could be addressed.  It was with some dismay that I read your response, which suggests that under existing resources, resources that you, in some respects diverted to this other project, was it not….you didn’t have the same people working.  This is the same division though, is it not?

MR. BAUM:  I’m sorry.  You’re talking about the legal division?


CHAIR SPEIER:  It’s all investigations, though, isn’t it?

MR. BAUM:  I’m unclear as to what you were talking about.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The letter that you sent out to a number of the eight…

MR. BAUM:  My understanding was, that the lawyers…

UNIDENTIFIED:  That was only legal.

CHAIR SPEIR:  That was only legal.  All right.  So 20 cents dedicated to getting rid of the backlog.  Your response to the committee’s analysis was that the present rate, you won’t have that accomplished for six years.

MR. BANDA:  I can comment on that, Madam Senator.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.

MR. BANDA:  The original backlog of cases in 2000 was approximately 4,000, thereabouts.  And then there was a re-looking at those particular cases, and a lot of the cases were agents and brokers that had multiple complaints, so it was condensed down to 3,116, thereabouts.  That was just all the cases.  The 940 cases were actually….were a 385 and now we’ve moved them down all the way to 67, which is an 83 percent decrease.  And when we looked at the amount of average hours put on an investigation and tried to factor that to what we could get that particular caseload down to zero while maintaining the continuous flow of the cases that still come in the door monthly, we determined the three investigators and a limited term, three investigators for three years, would be able to reduce the backlog down to zero and still maintain the inflow of complaints coming in.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I believe you, but why would you then tell the auditor in response to her review, that it was going to take you six years?  Go to page 22 of the backgrounder.  In bold and about halfway down, is the response that was given to the auditor.  It’s actually the auditor’s comment on your report, that it was going to take six years.

MR. BANDA:  Well, I was the prior division chief that was commandeering this, and I’m familiar with this, is that there was a continuous flux of cases coming in and that we didn’t want to start reducing the actual investigator hours and then have the backlog start to go up again.  So they factored in that, I believe this being six years.  I think we’re talking about actual PYs (personal years) as opposed to calendar years, of projecting out six years.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So it’s going to take you a few months now?

MR. BANDA:  What I’m saying is, is that with the additional investigators, I think we’re applying investigative hours rather than calendar years.  In other words, we believe that we can increase, investigate more.
MR. BAUM:  The answer to your question is, over the next three years.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Three years.

MR. BAUM:  Over the next three years, the 67 that is currently outstanding will be reduced to zero.  And during that three year period, all incoming complaints and issues will be dealt with such that there is not an increased backlog.  So you’re going to look….the backlog is currently at 67.  It will reduce over the next three years and there will not be….it will not increase, so that there will be no backlog by the end of the three year period, plus we will be dealing with all of the inflow.  Now, if that inflow is less, the 67 goes down more quickly.

CHAIR SPEIER:  You know, the auditor was, I guess, alarmed by the fact that 43 percent of the open cases have been opened and unassigned for more than six months.  It would seem to me, with your new IT capabilities, that that shouldn’t happen at all.

MR. BAUM:  Well, the IT capabilities aren’t fully in yet.  But as far as I’m concerned, that’s the whole point of the IT capabilities.  Is to ensure that does not continue.

MR. BANDA:  Madam Chairwoman, just to….we additionally created a directive that supervisors will review cases on a quarterly basis.  I believe that there is a continuous need to review the cases and the backlog; determine whether there is additional information; and reprioritize if the cases do need to be investigated if there’s other complaints that nature coming in.  So we did, since the auditor’s report, institute a directive for a quarterly review of those cases.
CHAIR SPEIER:  And these cases for the most part are cases, complaints, that have been filed about insurance agents and brokers—is that right?

MR. BANDA:  Correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And typically is the vast majority of them in auto?  And as these cases stand unaddressed, these individuals continue to offer insurance products—correct?

MR. BANDA:  What we try to do is, we do work with legal in that we will talk with our legal staff to determine whether or not we can do a warning letter, we can do a cease and desist, we can do other methods to stop the behavior, and even including contacting that particular licensee depending on how egregious the action is.  So we have been trying to make sure that we target the biggest area, or the biggest offenders.


CHAIR SPEIER:  But as a consumer there is no way for me to find out if my particular agent is being investigated, is there?


MR. BANDA:  I believe that there is.  When you go to the department’s website, I believe that there is some filings there of agents that have had some disciplinary action against them.


CHAIR SPEIER:  But that’s subsequent.  These have not been investigated.


MR. BAUM:  Obviously, for all the appropriate reasons, we’re not going to post somebody’s name who is in the process of being investigated because the investigation could…


CHAIR SPEIER:  Right.  Due process requires us to allow that to happen.  But it does beg the question, if this goes on even for three years…


MR. BAUM:  The issue I think you’re raising, is the urgency of trying to get these done because the individual….if in fact a bad apple, to the extent that we’re not getting that investigation completed, that person is continuing to operate.  And that’s why we’ve done two things.

First of all, we have restructured the division under Mr. Banda’s leadership.  We have also dropped the caseload to where it is today.  And our goal is to….and all of those 67 cases are being reviewed, and they’re constantly prioritized.  And one of the things that occurs is, that we have ongoing complaints.  So if somebody who is in that 67 gets a complaint, that moves immediately to a higher priority.  But we’re still working on those to get rid of them.


CHAIR SPEIER:  I bring it to your attention because we’re going to find a similar problem in the Department of Corporations, where for over ten years, they were receiving complaints about a particular company that was out there fleecing consumers with various financial products.  And I don’t think we can underscore enough, this is one of the most important functions of your department.  And to have complaints that are as stale as they have been, and the backlog that existed as long as it has, even with the augmentation of funding, is not good.  And if you can find a way of reducing this backlog to a year and come up with a proposal to present to the committee that’s reasonable, we’ll take it up.

MR. BANDA:  We appreciate that and we, again, I accept and agree with your conclusion, that even if there’s one person out there who we’re still studying, who is continuing to operate because we’re studying that individual, that’s unacceptable and we need to get that down.


SENATOR COX:  When you find that particular situation either with an agent or a broker, what is your action with respect to the….I understand you move it up higher on the priority and you begin your investigation or increase your investigation, what do you do with respect to the company for which the individual is transacting the business?  Do you notify them saying look, we think we have an alarming pattern here that you need to know about; you’re potentially on the hook for all this?  What’s your action?


MR. BANDA:  Well, there’s two routes you can do on these type of allegations.  One is, administrative, the other is criminal.  So we work with our legal staff because there is a remedy to stop the behavior immediately.  The other is to go to the district attorney….there’s two concurrent investigations going on.  As well, we’ll notify the insurance company, depending on what type of activity is going on.  A lot of times it depends on what type of agent—whether it’s a captive, or if it’s an independent, or broker.  That determines a lot of factors in our investigation.  


SENATOR COX:  Well, you have the ability to suspend their license.


MR. BANDA:  We do do that.  We have the ability to do an action against the license.


MR. BAUM:  We do, but that’s part of the whole investigation.  That’s what we’re about.  I’m assuming that’s what Senator Speier was asking.


SENATOR COX:  But the Senator is also talking about the fact that there, for lack of a better term, that doesn’t seem to be the urgency that is required in order to protect the consumer.  I mean, an agent can’t for very long book the risk themselves.  You know, sooner or later you’ve got to have a claim and you’ve got serious problems.  So it just seems to me that the Senator is absolutely right, there needs to be a greater degree of urgency than the department appears to be exercising.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Why don’t you do this—why don’t you provide to the committee a listing, not by name, but of these complaints that have been filed and what the conduct is that they’re being charged with, so that we can get a sense of the level of criminal behavior, or public risk.


MR. BAUM:  The nature of the violation.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Right.  And then, we can make some assessments as to how we can get through this backlog—okay.


MR. BANDA:  We’ll do that.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  And get that to ___________.  Thank you.

I think we now move to our final topic—financial surveillance.  Ramon Calderon is here to speak.  


Good afternoon, Mr. Calderon.


RAMON CALDERON:  Good afternoon, Senator.  


CHAIR SPEIER:  Now, don’t make a liar out of me.  I said we weren’t going to be here until three, so.


MR. CALDERON:  I’ll do all I can to help in that.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Do you have anything that you want to present to us before we get into this?


MR. CALDERON:  No, I do not.


CHAIR SPEIER:  No.  Okay.  So, let’s look at the issue of reserves.  Have you looked recently at….we had a flurry of concerns by insurers, maybe two years ago, about mold.  


MR. CALDERON:  Mold?


CHAIR SPEIER:  Mold.  And then, of course, there were many efforts to exclude mold.  So is the mold issue one of concern to us today?


MR. CALDERON:  Well, the mold issue was looked in terms of the overall reserve adequacy.  In our financial examinations, we did not undertake a separate analysis of the mold exposure, but only in terms of the overall reserve adequacy that a company may have for its homeowners insurance line of business.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, but it was the thrust of a good part of the legislation over the last few years.


MR. CALDERON:  Was your question related to rates, or is it related to…


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I mean, it caused the rates to go up substantially.  Then we had all the exclusion of mold.  And I would think that part of what you would….maybe this doesn’t fall under your area of responsibility.  It may actually be in another area.


MR. BAUM:  I think it was more of rate issue.


CHAIR SPEIER:  But it does, to the extent that you have to reserve for mold, and that was the thrust of what most insurers were saying We’re dying under the mold cases, and presumably they were reserving for the mold cases.  So to the extent to which mold cases did not develop, then the reserves could be excessive—correct?


MR. CALDERON:  That’s correct.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So how would you…


MR. CALDERON:  Well, reserves are adjusted annually, or they can be adjusted quarterly, and you will always have excess reserves, or understated reserves, depending upon the line of business that you write.  But I still think that your question is more directed at rates and how rating contemplates an excess reserve when you look at a rate application.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  I don’t know that I absolutely agree with you, but I’ll take your word for it.

One of the issues referenced in the backgrounder that had never really occurred to me before, was the fact that when reserves are excessive, it has the effect of being a financial shelter for an insurance company in terms of the corporate parent.  Have you looked at that issue at all?


MR. CALDERON:  Sheltering how?


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, if held by an insurance company that is a subsidiary to a corporation subject to California’s Franchise Tax, excessive insurance company reserves could provide a corporate franchise tax shelter.  For example, a parent company could use its insurance company’s subsidiary to invest money and could shelter all of the investment growth from taxation.  The money would not be subject to the Franchise Tax because it was not held by the parent corporation.  It would also not be subject to the insurance gross premium tax, because the tax is based on premiums written, not assets held.  
Over capitalization of insurance companies subsidiaries was the subject of the anti stuffing provisions of Assemblywoman Oropeza’s bill that was chaptered in 2004, and, which presumably you are implementing.

MR. CALDERON:  I believe you’re referring to Assembly Bill 263.


CHAIR SPEIER:  That’s correct.


MR. CALDERON:  And this is where the legislative analyst, in consultation with the Department of Finance and the Department of Insurance and the Franchise Tax Board, will undertake a study of the impact of this act.  
If your question is, what is financial surveillance doing with regard to overcapitalization, the companies, we’d love to have companies that are overcapitalized.  We tend to find just the opposite—companies that are barely capitalized to meet the level of business that is underwritten.


I understand the objective of the assembly bill.  We are ready to assist the legislative analyst when it decides to undertake the study of the impact of this particular act.


SENATOR COX:  But the question is, do you look at whether the reserves are under or over?


MR. CALDERON:  Yes, we do, Senator.


SENATOR COX:  And what do you find?


MR. CALDERON:  We find some that are over and some that are under.


SENATOR COX:  What do you do when you find companies that have over reserved based upon the risk?


MR. CALDERON:  Well, what we find typically is that it’s a question….it’s an issue of their estimation process.  There’s not one insurance company that will ever be on the dollar.  It will either be over, or it will be under.  To the extent that companies are over reserved, they’ve established too much in their provision for losses, we take a look at that company again to see if whether it continues to use the same reserving methodology from year to year; we take a look at what its outside actuarial opining actuary may say with regard to the level of reserves; and we do our own internal assessment.


SENATOR COX:  And you’re familiar with the Senator’s comments about stuffing?


MR. CALDERON:  Yes, I am.


SENATOR COX:  And how many stuffing cases do you see a year?


MR. CALDERON:  I haven’t seen any.  For California domestics, I have not seen any.


SENATOR COX:  In your career with the insurance commissioner’s office, you’ve never seen a case of stuffing?


MR. CALDERON:  I have seen over reserving.


SENATOR COX:  But not stuffing?


MR. CALDERON:  I’m not an expert on….this is a new assembly bill.  It’s just been in effect now for about a year.  I’m not familiar with what particular impact it might have on any individual company.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So if there overcapitalization, what do you do?


MR. CALDERON:  There isn’t anything we do financially, if there’s overcapitalization.  


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well presumably, either the premiums should go down…


MR. BAUM:  Well, it depends.  If it’s a company that’s….if a company is seeking a rate increase, then we’re going to do the analysis that we normally do with respect to the rating of that company.  


CHAIR SPEIER:  Let’s say they’re not seeking a rate increase.


MR. BAUM:  I think the struggle that Mr. Calderon is having here is, that our experience from a practical perspective is, that reserving is the series of estimates made by the company actuary, the department’s actuary, and if we have a big dispute, a third actuary.  And, usually all three of those are all around a particular number.  Some are over; some are under; and some say….and a perfect example was the SCIF, where some actuaries said they were overcapitalized.  We were saying they were under capitalized.  And so, it’s not….stuffing, I’m assuming, is where there is a such a grotesque difference, such a gross difference, between the capitalization needed and the business that’s being written, that you have in effect, as you’re saying, an example of an effort to truly avoid taxation.  I think I’m hearing Mr. Calderon say, “We don’t…


CHAIR SPEIER:  You haven’t seen it.


MR. BAUM:  We haven’t seen that.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s talk about just the solvency of companies.  Do we have any teetering on insolvency right now?


MR. CALDERON:  Are you referring to California domestic companies?


CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes.


MR. CALDERON:  I would say not.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Do we have any on a watch list?


MR. CALDERON:  The department maintains its list of companies.  Some companies, we pay closer attention to than others.  


CHAIR SPEIER:  Is there a watch list?

MR. BAUM:  There is a watch list, which is the list he’s talking about.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  And is that public?


MR. BAUM:  No, it is not public.


MR. CALDERON:  No, it would not be.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  So, how many companies are on this watch list right now?


MR. CALDERON:  Probably in the range of 20 companies.


MR. BAUM:  The watch list rate has three gradations of companies.  And the top gradation would be what you described as teetering on insolvency.


CHAIR SPEIER:  And how many would you say are in that category right now?


MR. CALDERON:  Less than ten.


MR. BAUM:  Yes.  And you’re asking about California domestics specifically, and I think the answer is none—right?


MR. CALDERON:  You have teetering on insolvency, I would say none.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, holding their breath.


MR. CALDERON:  Well, they’re on our list of priority companies for various reasons.


CHAIR SPEIER:  I want to get a sense of how many we’re talking about.  Let’s say for discussion purposes, they’re ten.  You said ten, instinctively.  There are ten companies that need to be watched carefully.  What are you doing?  How many PYs are you, kind of, setting aside to observe that?  We have gotten caught a number of times, historically now, where it was way too late and you couldn’t bring them back from insolvency.  And I want to have a sense that we’re on top of it this time.


MR. BAUM:  Sure.  Mr. Calderon will go right through that process.  But again, I wanted, so we’re clear, of that ten, the substantial number of them are probably companies domesticated outside of the state of California.  We still watch them.  But he’s going to describe the process for watching those as well as watching the California domestics.  Because both of them do business in California.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Correct.


MR. CALDERON:  Just very quickly.  I have a staff of approximately 120 insurance examiners.  Roughly half of them are devoted to on sight financial examinations, and the other half are devoted to desk reviews.  And in addition to that we have, within the financial surveillance area, what we term to be an early warning team of analysts, attorneys, and other folks within the department that help monitor companies that have been identified as the highest priority companies.

When you asked the question about how many PYs do we have dedicated toward that—it is whatever it requires.  If we were to have 50 companies that were designated as high priority companies, we would move the analyst and the examiners to focus on those 50 companies.  Yes, the early warning team does have a set number of examiners that support that, and it does have a set number of management folks, but it is a dynamic sort of relationship.  The more problem companies, priority companies we have, the more we dedicate in terms of resources.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you have adequate resources to do the job from your perspective—right?


MR. CALDERON:  For the priority companies, yes.


CHAIR SPEIER:  And do you have an inadequate supply of staff for any other purpose?


MR. CALDERON:  Well, we have a very few number of actuaries.  As you probably are aware, it’s very difficult for most departments, state agencies, to attract qualified actuaries.  And in that scenario that we have struggled with over a number of years, actually we’ve been pretty fortunate—we’ve hire two actuaries in the last six months.  And that’s a matter more of chance than in recruitment efforts, believe me.  


With regard to the analyst, from time to time, on special projects, we do need additional analysts, but we’re able to simply dedicate the resources based upon the prioritization of issues.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.


SENATOR COX:  Can you talk about, just for a moment, the model that the department employs with respect….because I looked at the data in the industry.  It appears that many of the insurance commissioner and their offices, the insurance commissioner’s office, has a significantly fewer number of attorneys than California.  It appears that they have adopted a different model that relies more on actuarial folks.  As a matter of fact, it was in the 2003 insurance resources department put out by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.  And when you go through it…

CHAIR SPEIER:  You don’t like reading novels, I can tell.


SENATOR COX:  You know, I’ve read a pretty good one recently.  But it seems…


MR. BAUM:  That’s after he read that.


SENATOR COX:  ________ kind of document that if you have insomnia, you just start reading it.  But it seems to me that the model that we’ve employed here in California is one that has an over reliance on attorneys and a lesser reliance on actuarial.


MR. CALDERON:  I let our general counsel respond to the attorneys.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  You respond from your perspective.


MR. COHEN:  I’ll have to study the report.  


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, from your experience, I mean, it sounds like you’re suggesting that we need more actuaries.


MR. CALDERON:  Oh, absolutely.  I don’t know the comparison that you’re making between actuaries and attorneys, because they do different work.  The attorneys, I can tell you the relationship that there is between attorneys and the Financial Surveillance Branch.  The attorneys will support the staff on every corporate application matter that comes before the department, and also supports the staff on any interpretive issues dealing with the insurance code.


SENATOR COX:  It appears to me, Madam Chair, as I look at this data that’s being supplied, we have 87 attorneys and 44 staff people.  That was in 2003.  And so when you go take a look at…


MR. BAUM:  That would be the legal department, I think you’re talking about—right.


SENATOR COX:  I’m just inquiring.  It appears to me that the model is significantly different in California than in every other state in the United States.


MR. CALDERON:  My understanding of how other states work is fairly similar to how our department is structured—fairly similar.  I hope you’re comparing New York to California and not California to Iowa.


CHAIR SPEIER:  No, we’re not.  This is kind of interesting.  I haven’t seen this.  So, New York has 31 lawyers and 12 support; we have 87 and 44.  The closest one, actually, is Florida, with 59 and 46.  Something for you to ponder.  Not to mention our outside contract attorneys.  


Actuaries, let’s just look at actuaries just a second.  California has, it looks like, eight actuaries.

MR. CALDERON:  That’s correct.


CHAIR SPEIER:  And let’s look at New York.  They have 40.


MR. BAUM:  They’re more expensive too.


CHAIR SPEIER:  And Florida has 10.  So, the two states that come closest to us with attorneys, have more than we do in terms of actuaries.  It’s probably an area that we should look at.


SENATOR COX:  I think so.


CHAIR SPEIER: Okay.  Anything else?


MR. CALDERON:  No.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay, one last question I have is on SCIF.  I don’t know if that’s to you, or….well, actually it would be to you in terms of their financial liability.  How does it stand today?

MR. CALDERON:  SCIF is doing better today than it was at year end 2004.  It continues to post record profits.  SCIF’s surplus has grown.  In this year alone, approximately $600 million.  Actually, and I’m referring to June 30th, so it’s grown even more since then.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  So maybe as much as a billion dollars by year end?


MR. CALDERON:  For 2005, more likely than not, close to a billion dollars.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So this issue of deficiency in reserves is no longer an issue?


MR. CALDERON:  When you say it’s no longer an issue, it continues to be an issue of discussion.  It continues to be an issue of further analysis.  We have continued to retain an outside consultant, the one that’s being used with SCIF for a number of years to closely monitor the reserves for SCIF, to meet with SCIF’s opining actuary, and to meet with SCIF’s internal actuarial folks, as well.  We’ve also met with SCIF’s independent accountants on that same matter.

MR. BAUM:  I think the short answer is, that the reserving situation has been improving.  We’re comfortable with the direction it’s going in, and we don’t’ have the kind of urgency that we met in your office about two years ago.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So two years ago was about a $2 billion reserve inadequacy—is that right?


MR. BAUM:  I want to say about a billion, actually.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So like a billion-and-a-half.  All right.  So to the extent to which you are now going to have more than a billion generated this year, you’ve got to be close to where you need to be—right?


MR. CALDERON:  Well, the assumption is, that if you take the profits to help absorb whatever deficiencies there were in years past, you’re correct.  But the remaining question is, are they reserving for their current business adequately?  It continues to be a very dynamic analysis.  You just can’t look at prior years and say it’s all resolved.


MR. BAUM:  Part of it is, as the new business goes forward, we’re pleased that there’s competition out there.  We’re seeing that.  And it is clearly impacting rates so that we’re seeing better rates with that competition.  But then that means different books of business will be leaving SCIF, and they have to adjust to that.  And so that’s why it is….Ramon says, it’s a bit fluid and we have to constantly look at it.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Do you happen to know what percentage of the market SCIF has right now?


MR. CALDERON:  It’s gone under 50 percent.  SCIF, in my recollection…


CHAIR SPEIER:  And at its high it was at 60?


MR. CALDERON:  A little over 50.


CHAIR SPEIER:  A little over 50.


MR. BAUM:  Yeah, I think it was as high as 55.


MR. CALDERON:  My recollection is that SCIF, it will be writing about a billion dollars less this year than it did last year, and that’s probably a sign of competition.  New entrants have come into the market and taken some of the business that used to be written by SCIF to themselves.  That only brings up other issues.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Which are?


MR. CALDERON:  Which are, what is typically known as potentially adverse selection.  Meaning, that your bad book of business remains with SCIF, and the good guys, the policyholders that have few losses, go to the other companies that give them more attractive rates.


CHAIR SPEIER:  But that’s always been in issue for SCIF.  It’s always been the insurer of last resort for….it was created for that purpose, actually.


MR. BAUM:  From our perspective, it’s an underwriting question and we just want to be real sure that they’re underwriting.  And if you recall during the crisis, it was, in a sense, a failure of underwriting that resulted in the disconnect between the liabilities they took on and the premium they were getting.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Well those complete my questions.  Senator Cox?


SENATOR COX:  Thank you, Madam Chair, for holding this hearing.  Perhaps we can get together in the next week or so and decide whether it’s necessary to have an additional…


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  You just love to have oversight hearings on the Department of Insurance, I think.


All right.  Thank you all for joining us.  We appreciate the support of the Department of Insurance staff and for Commissioner Garamendi’s appearance, as well.  Thank you.
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